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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 

Item 1.  Financial Statements.
 

DINEEQUITY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)
 

September 30, 2009
 

December 31, 2008
(Unaudited)

 

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 105,075 $ 114,443
Restricted cash 75,382 83,355
Short-term investments, at market value 280 276
Receivables, net 77,282 117,930
Inventories 12,086 10,959
Prepaid income taxes — 15,734
Prepaid expenses 15,853 17,067
Deferred income taxes 24,526 27,504
Assets held for sale 7,314 11,861

Total current assets 317,798 399,129
Non-current restricted cash 50,683 53,395
Restricted assets related to captive insurance subsidiary 4,601 5,573
Long-term receivables 263,747 277,106
Property and equipment, net 784,911 824,482
Goodwill 697,470 697,470
Other intangible assets, net 946,503 956,036
Other assets, net 136,529 148,026
Total assets $ 3,202,242 $ 3,361,217

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:

Current maturities of long-term debt $ 22,650 $ 15,000
Accounts payable 38,336 48,983
Accrued employee compensation and benefits 29,436 44,299
Deferred revenue 44,779 95,532
Accrued financing costs — 20,071
Other accrued expenses 61,099 55,249
Accrued interest payable 3,393 3,580

Total current liabilities 199,693 282,714
Long-term debt, less current maturities 1,711,273 1,853,367
Financing obligations, less current maturities 312,592 318,651
Capital lease obligations, less current maturities 155,471 161,310
Deferred income taxes 402,385 395,448
Other liabilities 118,480 119,910

Total liabilities 2,899,894 3,131,400
Commitments and contingencies
Preferred stock, Series A, $1 par value, 220,000 shares authorized; 190,000 shares issued and

outstanding as of September 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008 187,050 187,050
Stockholders’ equity:

Convertible preferred stock, Series B, at accreted value, 10,000,000 shares authorized; 35,000 shares
issued and outstanding at September 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008 39,038 37,332

Common stock, $.01 par value, 40,000,000 shares authorized; September 30, 2009: 23,797,375
shares issued and 17,581,809 shares outstanding; December 31, 2008: 23,696,950 shares issued
and 17,466,355 shares outstanding 238 237

Additional paid-in-capital 169,486 165,315
Retained earnings 205,314 145,810
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (23,028) (29,408)
Treasury stock, at cost (September 30, 2009: 6,215,566 shares; December 31, 2008: 6,230,595 shares) (275,750) (276,519)

Total stockholders’ equity 115,298 42,767
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 3,202,242 $ 3,361,217

 
See the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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DINEEQUITY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

 
Three Months Ended

September 30,
 

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

 

2009 2008
 

2009
 

2008
 

Revenues
Franchise revenues $ 90,198 $ 87,429 $ 278,922 $ 264,784
Company restaurant sales 206,357 265,919 668,149 874,337
Rental revenues 32,929 32,962 99,182 98,495
Financing revenues 4,067 4,871 12,504 20,487

Total revenues 333,551 391,181 1,058,757 1,258,103
Costs and Expenses

Franchise expenses 25,377 24,255 77,411 70,016
Company restaurant expenses 179,306 236,389 573,343 772,706
Rental expenses 24,264 24,488 73,081 73,758
Financing expenses 14 326 360 6,213
General and administrative expenses 35,897 41,788 117,015 138,622
Interest expense 45,231 50,490 139,611 152,698
Impairment and closure charges 4,471 28,466 6,472 69,898
Amortization of intangible assets 3,019 3,077 9,056 9,056
Gain on extinguishment of debt — (2,434) (38,803) (2,434)
Gain on disposition of assets (2,111) (274) (7,253) (432)
Other expense (income), net 888 (429) 1,017 (2,153)

Total costs and expenses 316,356 406,142 951,310 1,287,948
Income (loss) before income taxes 17,195 (14,961) 107,447 (29,845)
(Provision) benefit for income taxes (3,690) 3,157 (31,987) 12,510
Net income (loss) $ 13,505 $ (11,804) $ 75,460 $ (17,335)
Net income (loss) $ 13,505 $ (11,804) $ 75,460 $ (17,335)

Less: Series A preferred stock dividends (4,750) (4,750) (14,250) (14,250)
Less: Accretion of Series B preferred stock (577) (544) (1,706) (1,600)
Less: Net (income) loss allocated to unvested participating

restricted stock (301) 687 (2,211) 1,191
Net income (loss) available to common stockholders $ 7,877 $ (16,411) $ 57,293 $ (31,994)
Net income (loss) available to common stockholders per share

Basic $ 0.46 $ (0.98) $ 3.39 $ (1.91)
Diluted $ 0.46 $ (0.98) $ 3.34 $ (1.91)

Weighted average shares outstanding
Basic 16,942 16,786 16,904 16,752
Diluted 16,942 16,786 17,717 16,752

Dividends declared per common share $ — $ 0.25 $ — $ 0.75
Dividends paid per common share $ — $ 0.25 $ — $ 0.75

 
See the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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DINEEQUITY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

 
Nine Months Ended September 30,

2009
 

2008
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income (loss) $ 75,460 $ (17,335)

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to cash flows provided by operating activities
Depreciation and amortization 48,406 53,532
Non-cash interest expense 29,338 28,947
Gain on extinguishment of debt (38,803) (2,434)
Impairment and closure charges 6,472 69,898
Deferred income taxes 5,723 (48,585)
Stock-based compensation expense 7,367 10,237
Tax benefit from stock-based compensation 472 1,463
Excess tax benefit from stock options exercised (48) (315)
Gain on disposition of assets (7,253) (432)
Other (5,628) 97
Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Receivables 39,704 35,858
Inventories (1,323) 149
Prepaid expenses 5,950 9,552
Accounts payable (9,194) (36,768)
Accrued employee compensation and benefits (14,863) (4,748)
Deferred revenues (50,753) (37,202)
Other accrued expenses 11,901 (638)

Cash flows provided by operating activities 102,928 61,276
Cash flows from investing activities

Additions to property and equipment (9,513) (26,951)
Reductions (additions) to long-term receivables 1,937 (555)
Payment of accrued acquisition costs — (10,247)
Collateral released by captive insurance subsidiary 1,011 4,042
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment and assets held for sale 16,132 40,158
Principal receipts from notes and equipment contracts receivable 11,419 12,359
Other (89) (380)

Cash flows provided by investing activities 20,897 18,426
Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 10,000 35,000
Proceeds from financing obligations — 369,991
Repayment of long-term debt (108,463) (381,236)
Principal payments on capital lease and financing obligations (10,722) (6,528)
Dividends paid (14,250) (24,243)
Payment of preferred stock issuance costs — (1,500)
Repurchase of restricted stock (426) (458)
Reissuance of treasury stock — 1,135
Proceeds from stock options exercised 324 989
Excess tax benefit from stock options exercised 48 315
Payment of accrued debt issuance costs (20,257) (48,403)
Payment of early debt extinguishment costs (123) —
Restricted cash related to securitization 10,676 48,542

Cash flows used in financing activities (133,193) (6,396)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents (9,368) 73,306
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 114,443 26,838
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 105,075 $ 100,144

Supplemental disclosures
Interest paid $ 124,493 $ 149,131
Income taxes paid $ 15,716 $ 33,411

 
See the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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DINEEQUITY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 
(Unaudited)

 
1. General
 

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements of DineEquity, Inc. (the “Company”) have been prepared in accordance with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”) for interim financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of
Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by U.S. GAAP for complete financial statements. In the
opinion of management, all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring accruals) considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included. Operating
results for the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2009 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year
ending December 31, 2009.

 
The consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2008 has been derived from the audited consolidated financial statements at that date but does not

include all of the information and footnotes required by U.S. GAAP for complete financial statements.
 
These consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and footnotes thereto included in

the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008.
 

2. Basis of Presentation
 

The Company’s fiscal quarters end on the Sunday closest to the last day of each quarter. For convenience, the fiscal quarters are reported as ending
on March 31, June 30, September 30 and December 31. The first three fiscal quarters of 2009 ended March 29,  June 28 and September 27, while the first three
fiscal quarters of 2008 ended March 30, June 29 and September 28.

 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries that are consolidated in accordance

with U.S. GAAP. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. However, the subsidiaries have not guaranteed the
obligations of the Company, and the assets of the subsidiaries generally are not available to pay creditors of the Company. Also, the Company has not
guaranteed the obligations of the subsidiaries, and the assets of the Company generally are not available to pay creditors of the subsidiaries.

 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires the Company’s management to make estimates and assumptions that

affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. On an ongoing basis, the Company evaluates its estimates, including those
related to provisions for doubtful accounts, legal contingencies, income taxes, long-lived assets, goodwill and intangible assets. The Company bases its
estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could differ
from those estimates. Subsequent events have been evaluated through October 27, 2009, the date the financial statements are considered issued.

 
Reclassifications

 
Certain reclassifications have been made to prior year information to conform to the current year presentation. The most significant reclassification

relates to certain operations acquired with Applebee’s International, Inc. (“Applebee’s”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, that were previously
reported as discontinued operations. The amounts of $93,000 and $295,000, respectively, for the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30,
2008, that were previously reported as losses from discontinued operations have been reclassified as follows:
 

Three Months Ended
September 30, 2008

 

Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2008

(In thousands)
Reclassified to:

Total revenues $ — $ —
Company restaurant expenses 33 81
Loss on disposition of assets — 8
Impairment and closure charges 121 398
Income (loss) before income taxes (154) (487)
Benefit for income taxes 61 192

Reclassified from loss on discontinued operations (93) (295)
Net income (loss) $ — $ —

 
These reclassifications had no effect on the net income or financial position previously reported.
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3. Accounting Policies
 

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards
 
In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) amended U.S. GAAP with respect to fair value measurements. These

amendments, among other things, defined “fair value,” established a framework for measuring fair value and expanded disclosures about fair value
measurements. In February 2008, the FASB delayed for one year the applicability of the amended fair-value measurement requirements to certain
nonfinancial assets and liabilities. The Company adopted the requirements that had been deferred on January 1, 2009. The adoption did not have a material
impact on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

 
In December 2007, the FASB amended U.S. GAAP with respect to business combinations.  These amendments, among other things, established

principles and requirements for how an acquirer recognizes and measures in its financial statements the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed,
any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree and the goodwill acquired. These amendments also established disclosure requirements to enable the evaluation
of the nature and financial effects of the business combination. The amendments are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. The
Company adopted the amended requirements for business combinations on January 1, 2009 and will apply the requirements prospectively.

 
In March 2008, the FASB amended U.S. GAAP with respect to derivative instruments and hedging activities. These amendments, among other

things, require companies to provide enhanced disclosures about (a) how and why they use derivative instruments, (b) how derivative instruments and related
hedged items are accounted for, and (c) how derivative instruments and related hedged items affect a company’s financial position, financial performance and
cash flows. The Company adopted the new disclosure requirements on January 1, 2009. As the amendments did not change current accounting practice, there
was no impact of the adoption on the Company’s results of operations and financial condition.

 
In April 2008, the FASB amended U.S. GAAP with respect to the factors that should be considered in developing renewal or extension assumptions

used to determine the useful life of a recognized intangible asset. The intent of the amendments is to improve the consistency between the useful life of a
recognized intangible asset under previously existing U.S. GAAP related to goodwill and other intangible assets and the period of expected cash flows used
to measure the fair value of the asset under U.S. GAAP with respect to business combinations. The Company adopted the amended requirements on January 1,
2009, and will apply the provisions prospectively to any intangible assets acquired after the effective date.

 
In June 2008, the FASB amended U.S. GAAP with respect to determining if an instrument granted in a share-based payment transaction is a

participating security. These amendments, among other things, require unvested share-based payment awards that contain rights to receive non-forfeitable
dividends or dividend equivalents to be included in the two-class method of computing earnings per share. The Company retroactively adopted these
amendments on January 1, 2009. The impact of the adoption on earnings per share as previously reported for the three- and nine-month periods ended
September 30, 2008 was not material.

 
In April 2009, the FASB amended U.S. GAAP to address concerns regarding (a) determining whether a market is not active and a transaction is not

orderly, (b) recognition and presentation of other-than-temporary impairments and (c) interim disclosures of fair values of financial instruments. The
Company adopted these amendments effective April 1, 2009. There was no impact of the adoption on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

 
In May 2009, the FASB amended U.S. GAAP with respect to subsequent events. These amendments, among other things, established general

standards of accounting for and disclosures of events that occur after the balance sheet date but before financial statements are issued or are available to be
issued. The Company adopted these amendments effective April 1, 2009. There was no impact of the adoption on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements.

 
In June 2009, the FASB established the FASB Accounting Standards Codification™ (the “Codification”) as the source of authoritative accounting

principles recognized by the FASB to be applied by nongovernmental entities in the preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP. 
Rules and interpretive releases of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) under authority of federal securities laws are also sources of
authoritative U.S. GAAP for SEC registrants.  All guidance contained in the Codification carries an equal level of authority.  The Codification became
effective for the Company in the third fiscal quarter of 2009.  Adoption of the Codification did not have a material effect on the Company’s financial
statements.
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3. Accounting Policies, continued
 

New Accounting Pronouncements
 
In June 2009, the FASB amended U.S. GAAP with respect to the accounting for transfers of financial assets. These amendments, among other things,

clarified that the objective of U.S. GAAP is to determine whether a transferor and all of the entities included in the transferor’s financial statements being
presented have surrendered control over transferred financial assets; limited the circumstances in which a financial asset, or portion of a financial asset,
should be derecognized when the transferor has not transferred the entire original financial asset to an entity that is not consolidated with the transferor in the
financial statements being presented and/or when the transferor has continuing involvement with the transferred financial asset; and removed the concept of a
qualifying special-purpose entity. The Company will be required to adopt these amendments effective January 1, 2010, and is currently evaluating the
potential impact, if any, on its consolidated financial statements.

 
In June 2009, the FASB amended U.S. GAAP with respect to the consolidation of variable interest entities (“VIEs”). These amendments, among other

things, (i) change existing guidance for determining whether an entity is a VIE; (ii) require ongoing reassessments of whether an entity is the primary
beneficiary of a VIE; and (iii) require enhanced disclosures about an entity’s involvement in a VIE. The Company will be required to adopt these
amendments effective January 1, 2010, and is currently evaluating the potential impact, if any, on its consolidated financial statements.

 
In August 2009, the FASB amended U.S. GAAP with respect to measuring liabilities at fair value. These amendments provide clarification that in

circumstances in which a quoted price in an active market for the identical liability is not available, a reporting entity is required to measure fair value of
such liability using one or more of the techniques prescribed by the update. The Company will be required to adopt these amendments in the fourth quarter of
fiscal year 2009 and is currently evaluating the impact of adoption on its consolidated financial statements.

 
4. Impairment and Closure Charges
 

The Company assesses long-lived assets for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the assets may
not be recoverable. For the nine months ended September 30, 2009, the Company recognized impairment charges of $5.9 million and closure charges of $0.6
million. The impairment charges for the three months ended September 30, 2009 totaled $3.9 million and related primarily to four parcels of real estate and
one Applebee’s restaurant. The Company had fee ownership of the properties on which four Applebee’s company-operated restaurants were located. These
restaurants were franchised in the fourth quarter of 2008 but the Company retained ownership of the land and continued to lease the property to the
franchisee. The Company’s strategy does not contemplate retaining such properties as a lessor on a long-term basis. During the third quarter of 2009, the
Company determined the properties met the requirements under U.S. GAAP to be reclassified as assets held for sale. The properties were written down to the
estimated fair value that will be received upon sale, and an impairment of $2.8 million was recognized. As part of the Company’s quarterly assessment of the
recoverability of long-lived assets, an impairment of $1.1 million was recognized related to one Applebee’s company-operated restaurant whose carrying
value was not considered recoverable from undiscounted future cash flows.  The closure costs of $0.6 million related to changes in sublease revenue
assumptions for a single Applebee’s restaurant that had been closed in 1998.

 
Impairment and closure charges of $2.0 million recorded in the first six months of 2009 related primarily to leasehold improvements and related

assets of one IHOP restaurant closed during the period and an additional write-down to the estimated sales value, based on a current letter of intent, of one
Applebee’s restaurant that had been closed in a prior period and was included in assets held for sale.  The Company has evaluated the causal factors of all
impairments recorded during the nine months ended September 30, 2009 and has concluded they are not potential indicators of an impairment of goodwill or
other intangible assets.

 
In June 2008, the Company entered into a sale-leaseback transaction relating to 181 parcels of real estate comprising land, buildings and

improvements. The net book value of the real estate exceeded the proceeds received by $40.6 million. All of the parcels involved in the transactions had
been acquired in the November 29, 2007 acquisition of Applebee’s and their estimated fair value was assigned as part of the purchase price allocation as of
that date. The Company evaluated events subsequent to November 29, 2007 and noted a deterioration in both the domestic real estate and credit markets
between the date of the purchase price allocation and the June 2008 closing date of the sale-leaseback transactions. In the absence of objective evidence to
the contrary, the Company concluded that the estimated fair value of the real estate determined in the purchase price allocation had been reasonable and the
decline in value related primarily to market events subsequent to the acquisition date and therefore was not to an adjustment to the allocated purchase price.
Accordingly, the Company recognized an impairment loss of $40.6 million in the Consolidated Statement of Operations for the three-month and six-month
periods ended June 30, 2008.

 
As part of the Company’s quarterly assessment of the recoverability of its long-lived assets, the Company recorded impairment charges of $28.5

million for the three-month period ended September 30, 2008. Of that amount, $26.8 million related to Applebee’s properties and primarily resulted from
continuing deterioration in credit markets in general and a decline in operating
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4. Impairment and Closure Charges, continued
 
results of Applebee’s company-operated restaurants expected to be franchised in particular geographic areas.  The remainder of the impairment related to an
individual underperforming IHOP property whose estimates of future cash flows indicated the carrying value would not be recovered.
 
5. Assets Held for Sale
 

The Company classifies assets as held for sale and ceases the depreciation and amortization of the assets when there is a plan for disposal of the
assets and those assets meet the held for sale criteria, as defined in applicable U.S. GAAP. The balance of assets held for sale at December 31, 2008 of $11.9
million was primarily comprised of seven Applebee’s company-operated restaurants in New Mexico expected to be franchised, four parcels of land previously
acquired and held for future development, and property and equipment from closed stores.

 
The sale of five of the seven restaurants in New Mexico was completed in the first fiscal quarter of 2009.  During the second fiscal quarter of 2009,

the Company sold certain property and equipment associated with closed restaurants and recognized an additional impairment on a previously closed
restaurant. During the third fiscal quarter of 2009, the Company sold the remaining two of seven restaurants in New Mexico and reclassified the fair value of
four parcels of land as discussed in Note 4, Impairment and Closure Charges. The balance of assets held for sale at September 30, 2009 of $7.3 million was
primarily comprised of four parcels of land previously acquired and held for future development, four parcels of land on which Applebee’s franchised
restaurants are situated and property and equipment from one closed Applebee’s restaurant.

 
The following table summarizes the changes in the balance of assets held for sale during 2009:
 

 

(In millions)
 

Balance December 31, 2008 $ 11.9
Assets sold (6.6)
Impairment charges (1.0)
Assets reclassified to held for sale 3.0
Balance September 30, 2009 $ 7.3

 
6. Long-Term Debt
 

Long-term debt consists of the following components:
 

September 30, 2009
(unaudited)

 

December 31,
2008

(In millions)
Series 2007-1 Class A-2-II-A Fixed Rate Term Senior Notes due December 2037, at a fixed rate

of 7.1767% (inclusive of an insurance premium of 0.75%) $ 599.1 $ 640.6
Series 2007-1 Class A-2-II-X Fixed Rate Term Senior Notes due December 2037, at a fixed rate

of 7.0588% 504.7 604.3
Series 2007-1 Class M-1 Fixed Rate Term Subordinated Notes due December 2037, at a fixed

rate of 8.4044% 107.8 119.0
Series 2007-1 Class A-1 Variable Funding Senior Notes, final maturity date December 2037, at a

rate of 2.90% and 3.86% as of September 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008, respectively 100.0 100.0
Series 2007-1 Fixed Rate Notes due March 2037, at a fixed rate of 5.744% (inclusive of an

insurance premium of 0.60%) 175.0 175.0
Series 2007-2 Variable Funding Notes, final maturity date March 2037, at a rate of 0.36% and

2.1% as of September 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008, respectively 25.0 15.0
Series 2007-3 Fixed Rate Term Notes due December 2037, at a fixed rate of 7.0588% 245.0 245.0
Discount on Fixed Rate Notes (22.6) (30.5)
Total debt 1,734.0 1,868.4
Less current maturities (22.7) (15.0)
Long-term debt $ 1,711.3 $ 1,853.4
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6. Long-Term Debt, continued
 

For a description of the respective instruments, refer to Note 10 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008.

 
During the nine months ended September 30, 2009, the Company retired Series 2007-1 Class A-2-II-X Fixed Rate Term Senior Notes due

December 2037 with a face amount of $94.0 million and Series 2007-1 Class A-2-II-A Fixed Rate Term Senior Notes due December 2037 with a face amount
of $35.2 million for cash payments totaling $85.4 million. The Company recognized a gain on extinguishment of this debt of $38.8 million after the write-off
of the discount and deferred financing costs related to the debt retired.

 
During the nine months ended September 30, 2009, the Company received proceeds from disposition of assets and release of certain reserve funds

totaling $11.8 million. As required by the terms of the Applebee’s securitization agreements, these funds were used to retire Series 2007-1 Class A-2-II-X
Fixed Rate Term Senior Notes and Series 2007-1 Class A-2-II-A Fixed Rate Term Senior Notes at face values of $5.5 million and $6.3 million, respectively.

 
In January 2009, the Company began making scheduled monthly payments on the Series 2007-1 Class M-1 Fixed Rate Term Subordinated Notes

due December 2037. Scheduled payments totaled $11.2 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2009.
 

7. Financing Obligations
 

As of September 30, 2009, future minimum lease payments under financing obligations during the initial terms of the leases related to sale-leaseback
transactions are as follows:

 
Fiscal Years

 

(In millions)
Remainder of 2009 $ 7.8
2010 31.5
2011 31.9
2012 31.9
2013 32.0
Thereafter 447.3
Total minimum lease payments 582.4
Less interest (261.2)
Total financing obligations 321.2
Less current portion(1) (8.6)

Long-term financing obligations $ 312.6
 

(1) Included in other accrued expenses on the consolidated balance sheet.
 

8. Segments
 

The Company’s revenues and expenses are recorded in four segments: franchise operations, company restaurant operations, rental operations and
financing operations.

 
As of September 30, 2009, the franchise operations segment consisted of (i) 1,603 restaurants operated by Applebee’s franchisees in the United

States, 14 countries outside the United States and one U.S. territory and (ii) 1,422 restaurants operated by IHOP franchisees and area licensees in the United
States, Canada and Mexico. Franchise operations revenue consists primarily of franchise royalty revenues, sales of proprietary products, certain franchise
advertising fees and the portion of the franchise fees allocated to intellectual property.  Franchise operations expenses include advertising expense, the cost
of proprietary products, pre-opening training expenses and costs related to intellectual property provided to certain franchisees.

 
As of September 30, 2009, the company restaurant operations segment consisted of 398 company-operated Applebee’s restaurants in the United

States, one company-operated Applebee’s restaurant in China and 11 company-operated IHOP restaurants. Company restaurant sales are retail sales at
company-operated restaurants. Company restaurant expenses are operating expenses at company-operated restaurants and include food, labor, benefits,
utilities, rent and other restaurant operating costs.

 
Rental operations revenue includes revenue from operating leases and interest income from direct financing leases. Rental operations expenses are

costs of operating leases and interest expense on capital leases on franchisee-operated restaurants.
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8. Segments, continued
 

Financing operations revenue consists of the portion of franchise fees not allocated to intellectual property, sales of equipment and interest income
from the financing of franchise fees and equipment leases. Financing expenses are primarily the costs of restaurant equipment.

 
Information on segments is as follows:
 

Three Months Ended
September 30,

 

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2009
 

2008
 

2009
 

2008
(In millions)

Revenues from external customers
Franchise operations $ 90.2 $ 87.4 $ 278.9 $ 264.8
Company restaurants 206.4 265.9 668.2 874.3
Rental operations 32.9 33.0 99.2 98.5
Financing operations 4.1 4.9 12.5 20.5
Total $ 333.6 $ 391.2 $ 1,058.8 $ 1,258.1
Interest expense
Company restaurants $ 0.2 $ 0.2 $ 0.7 $ 0.7
Rental operations 4.9 5.0 14.8 15.2
Corporate 45.2 50.5 139.6 152.7
Total $ 50.3 $ 55.7 $ 155.1 $ 168.6
Depreciation and amortization
Franchise operations $ 2.4 $ 2.5 $ 7.4 $ 7.5
Company restaurants 7.2 8.5 22.1 28.7
Rental operations 2.9 3.0 8.7 9.0
Corporate 3.5 3.2 10.2 8.3
Total $ 16.0 $ 17.2 $ 48.4 $ 53.5
Income (loss) before income taxes
Franchise operations $ 64.8 $ 63.2 $ 201.5 $ 194.8
Company restaurants 27.1 29.5 94.8 101.6
Rental operations 8.7 8.5 26.1 24.7
Financing operations 4.1 4.6 12.2 14.3
Corporate (87.5) (120.8) (227.2) (365.2)
Total $ 17.2 $ (15.0) $ 107.4 $ (29.8)

 
9. Income Taxes
 

The Company or one of its subsidiaries files Federal income tax returns and income tax returns in various state and foreign jurisdictions. The
Company is no longer subject to Federal income tax examinations for years before 2006, except for the 2004 year. With few exceptions, the Company is no
longer subject to state and non-U.S. income tax examinations by tax authorities for years before 2000.

 
At September 30, 2009, the Company had a liability for unrecognized tax benefits including potential interest and penalties, net of related tax

benefit, totaling $15.8 million, of which approximately $2.2 million is expected to be paid within one year. For the remaining liability, due to the
uncertainties related to these tax matters, the Company is unable to make a reasonably reliable estimate when cash settlement with a taxing authority will
occur.

 
The total unrecognized tax benefit as of September 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008 was $11.0 million and $18.6 million, respectively, excluding

interest, penalties and related income tax benefits. The decrease was due primarily to settlements with taxing authorities resulting in a decrease in
unrecognized tax benefits related to prior year positions. The entire $11.0 million will be included in the Company’s effective income tax rate if recognized.
The Company estimates the unrecognized tax benefits may decrease over the upcoming 12 months by an amount up to $2.2 million related to settlements
with taxing authorities and the lapse of the statute of limitations.

 
As of September 30, 2009, the accrued interest and penalties were $11.3 million and $1.6 million, respectively, excluding any related income tax

benefits. As of December 31, 2008, the accrued interest and penalties were $13.7 million and $2.9 million, respectively, excluding any related income tax
benefits. The decrease of $2.4 million of accrued interest is primarily related to the decrease of unrecognized tax benefits due to settlements with taxing
authorities, partially offset by the accrual of interest during the nine months ended September 30, 2009. The Company recognizes interest accrued related to
unrecognized tax benefits and penalties as a component of income tax expense which is recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
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9. Income Taxes, continued
 

The Company has various state net operating loss carryovers representing $1.5 million of state taxes as of December 31, 2008. The net operating loss
carryovers will expire, if unused, during the period from 2009 through 2027.

 
The effective tax rate was 29.8% for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2009. The effective tax rate is lower than the federal statutory rate

of 35% primarily due to tax credits and favorable settlements with taxing authorities, partially offset by state income taxes. The tax credits are primarily FICA
tip and other compensation-related tax credits associated with Applebee’s company-owned restaurant operations.

 
10. Stock-Based Compensation
 

From time to time, the Company grants stock options and restricted stock to officers and employees of the Company under the 2001 Stock Incentive
Plan (the “2001 Plan”) and restricted stock to non-employee directors of the Company under the 2005 Stock Incentive Plan for Non-Employee Directors (the
“2005 Plan”). The stock options generally vest over a three-year period and have a term of ten years from the issuance date. Option exercise prices equal the
closing price of the Company’s common stock on the New York Stock Exchange on the date of grant. Restricted stock provides for the issuance of shares of
the Company’s common stock at no cost to the holder and vests over terms determined by the Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of
Directors, generally three years. Restricted stock granted to officers and employees generally vests only if the officer or employee is actively employed by the
Company on the vesting date, and unvested restricted shares are forfeited upon either termination, retirement before age 65, death or disability, unless the
Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors determines otherwise. When vested options are exercised and restricted stock is issued, the
Company generally issues new shares from its authorized but unissued share pool or utilizes treasury stock.

 
The following table summarizes the components of the Company’s stock-based compensation expense included in general and administrative

expenses in the consolidated financial statements:
 

Three Months Ended
September 30,

 

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

 

2009
 

2008
 

2009
 

2008
 

(In millions)
 

Total Stock-Based Compensation:
Pre-tax compensation expense $ 2.1 $ 3.2 $ 7.4 $ 10.2
Tax provision (benefit) (0.7) 0.2 (2.3) (4.3)
Total stock-based compensation expense, net of tax $ 1.4 $ 3.4 $ 5.1 $ 5.9

 
At September 30, 2009, $9.6 million and $7.3 million (including estimated forfeitures) of total unrecognized compensation cost related to restricted

stock and stock options, respectively, is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.66 years for restricted stock and 2.26 years for stock
options.

 
The estimated fair values of the options granted year-to-date in 2009 were calculated using a Black-Scholes option pricing model. The following

summarizes the assumptions used in the Black-Scholes model:
 

Risk-free interest rate 1.95%
Weighted average historical volatility 72.3%
Dividend yield —
Expected years until exercise 5.0
Forfeitures 11.0%
Weighted average fair value of options granted $ 5.03
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10. Stock-Based Compensation, continued
 

Option activity under the Company’s stock option plan as of September 30, 2009, and changes during the nine-month period then ended were as
follows:

 

 

Shares
 

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price
 

Weighted Average
Remaining

Contractual Term
(in Years)

 

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value
 

Outstanding at December 31, 2008 933,939 $  36.37
Granted 1,016,750 $  8.22
Exercised (15,500) $  20.87
Expired (17,166) $  41.98
Forfeited (213,690) $  20.85
Outstanding at September 30, 2009 1,704,333 $  21.61 7.89 $  17,972,000
Vested at September 30, 2009 and Expected to Vest 1,449,676 $  22.69 7.65 $  14,378,000
Exercisable at September 30, 2009 507,582 $  38.65 4.66 $  374,000

 
The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the total pre-tax intrinsic value (the difference between the Company’s closing stock

price on the last trading day of the third quarter of 2009 and the exercise price, multiplied by the number of in-the-money options) that would have been
received by the option holders had all option holders exercised their options on September 30, 2009. The amount of aggregate intrinsic value will change
based on the fair market value of the Company’s stock and the number of in-the-money options.

 
A summary of restricted stock activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2009 is presented below:
 

Shares
Weighted Average

Grant Date Fair Value
Unvested at December 31, 2008 671,480 $  45.07
Granted 233,575 $  10.58
Released (120,399) $  49.28
Forfeited (105,958) $  34.18
Unvested at September 30, 2009 678,698 $  34.15

 
11. Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
 

The components of comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes, are as follows:
 

 

Three Months Ended
September 30,

 

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

 

 

2009
 

2008
 

2009
 

2008
 

 

(In millions)
 

Net income (loss) $  13.5 $  (11.8) $  75.5 $  (17.3)
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:

Interest rate swap 2.2 2.0 6.3 5.7
Temporary decline in available-for-sale securities 0.1 — 0.1 (0.3)

Total comprehensive income (loss) $  15.8 $  (9.8) $  81.9 $  (11.9)
 

The amount of income tax benefit allocated to the interest rate swap was $1.4 million and $0.1 million for the three months ended September 30,
2009 and 2008, respectively. The amount of income tax benefit allocated to the interest rate swap was $4.2 million and $2.4 million for the nine months
ended September 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively. The amount of income tax benefit allocated to the temporary decline in securities was $0.1 million for the
nine months ended September 30, 2008.

 
The loss related to an interest rate swap designated as a cash flow hedge is being reclassified into earnings over the expected life of the related debt.

Approximately $9.2 million, net of tax, is expected to be reclassified over the next 12 months.
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11. Other Comprehensive Income, continued
 

The accumulated comprehensive loss of $23.0 million (net of tax) as of September 30, 2009 is comprised of $22.7 million related to a terminated
interest rate swap and $0.3 million related to a temporary decline in available-for-sale securities. The accumulated comprehensive loss of $29.4 million (net
of tax) as of December 31, 2008 is comprised of $29.0 million related to a terminated interest rate swap and $0.4 million related to a temporary decline in
available-for-sale securities.

 
12. Net Income (Loss) Per Share
 

The computation of the Company’s basic and diluted net income per share is as follows:
 

 

Three Months Ended September 30,
 

2009
 

2008
 

 

(In thousands, except per share data)
 

Numerator for basic and dilutive income—per common share:
Net income (loss) $  13,505 $  (11,804)

Less: Series A Preferred Stock dividends (4,750) (4,750)
Less: Accretion of Series B Preferred Stock (577) (544)
Less: Net (income) loss allocated to unvested participating restricted stock (301) 687

Net income (loss) available to common stockholders— basic 7,877 (16,411)
Effect of unvested participating restricted stock in two-class calculation — —
Accretion of Series B Preferred Stock* — —

Net income (loss) available to common stockholders— diluted $  7,877 $  (16,411)
Denominator:
Weighted average outstanding shares of common stock 16,942 16,786
Dilutive effect of:

Stock options — —
Convertible Series B Preferred Stock * — —

Common stock and common stock equivalents 16,942 16,786
Net income (loss) per common share:

Basic $  0.46 $  (0.98)
Diluted $  0.46 $  (0.98)

 
 

Nine Months Ended September 30,
 

 

2009
 

2008
 

 

(In thousands, except per share data)
 

Numerator for basic and dilutive income—per common share:
Net income (loss) $  75,460 $  (17,335)

Less: Series A Preferred Stock dividends (14,250) (14,250)
Less: Accretion of Series B Preferred Stock (1,706) (1,600)
Less: Net (income) loss allocated to unvested participating restricted stock (2,211) 1,191

Net income (loss) available to common stockholders— basic 57,293 (31,994)
Effect of unvested participating restricted stock in two-class calculation 99 —
Accretion of Series B Preferred Stock* 1,706 —

Net income (loss) available to common stockholders— diluted $  59,098 $  (31,994)
Denominator:
Weighted average outstanding shares of common stock 16,904 16,752
Dilutive effect of:

Stock options 249 —
Convertible Series B Preferred Stock * 564 —

Common stock and common stock equivalents 17,717 16,752
Net income (loss) per common share:

Basic $  3.39 $  (1.91)
Diluted $  3.34 $  (1.91)

 

*        The effect of adding shares from the assumed conversion of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock (“Series B”) to the denominator and the related add-back
of the Series B dividends to the numerator is anti-dilutive for the three months ended September 30, 2009 and the three months and nine months ended
September 30, 2008.
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13. Financial Instruments
 

We believe the fair values of cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and the current portion of long-term debt approximate their
carrying amounts due to their short duration.

 
Restricted assets related to a captive insurance subsidiary are carried at fair value and consist of $0.8 million of cash held in escrow, $1.2 million in

money market funds invested in U.S. government securities, $2.0 million in mutual funds invested in auction-rate securities and one auction-rate security of
$0.6 million. The auction rate security and the mutual funds invested in auction-rate securities are considered available for sale. The following table
summarizes cost and market value of our available-for-sale securities at September 30, 2009:

 

(in millions)
 

Cost
 

Gross
Unrealized

Gains
 

Gross Unrealized
Losses

 

Market Value
Available-for-sale securities $  2.9 — $  (0.3) $  2.6

 
Earnings for the three months and nine months ended September 30, 2009 included realized losses of $51,000. The scheduled maturity of the

auction-rate security is December, 2030.
 
The fair values of non-current financial liabilities are shown in the following table:

 
September 30, 2009

 

December 31, 2008
Carrying
Amount

 

Fair Value
 

Carrying
Amount

 

Fair Value
(in millions)

Long-term debt, less current maturities $  1,711.3 $  1,394.2 $  1,853.4 $  1,177.2
Series A Preferred Stock $  187.1 $  160.2 $  187.1 $  131.2

 
At September 30, 2009 and December 31, 2008, the fair value of the non-current financial liabilities was determined based on Level 3 inputs using a

risk-adjusted discounted cash flow model under the income approach. The change in fair value as of September 30, 2009, compared to the fair value as of
December 31, 2008 was due to a change in the discount rate assumption utilized in the risk-adjusted discounted cash flow model.

 
14. Fair Value Measurements
 

The Company has one group of financial instruments, investments held by Applebee’s captive insurance subsidiary, which is required under U.S.
GAAP to be measured on a recurring basis at fair value. None of the Company’s non-financial assets or non-financial liabilities is required to be measured at
fair value on a recurring basis. The Company has not elected to use fair value measurement, as provided under U.S. GAAP, for any assets or liabilities for
which fair value measurement is not presently required.

 
U.S. GAAP establishes a three-tier fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value. These tiers include: Level 1, defined as

observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets; Level 2, defined as inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or
indirectly observable; and Level 3, defined as unobservable inputs in which little or no market data exists; therefore requiring an entity to develop its own
assumptions.

 
The fair value of available-for-sale securities held by the captive insurance company at September 30, 2009 was $2.6 million and was determined

based on Level 3 inputs using a risk-adjusted discounted cash flow model under the income approach.
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15. Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities
 

U.S. GAAP prescribes the accounting for certain entities, called variable interest entities (“VIEs”), in which equity investors do not have the
characteristics of a controlling interest or do not have sufficient equity at risk for the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial
support. Under U.S. GAAP, an enterprise that absorbs a majority of the VIE’s expected losses, receives a majority of the VIE’s expected residual returns, or
both, is considered to be the primary beneficiary of the VIE and must consolidate the entity in its financial statements.

 
In February 2009, the Company and owners of Applebee’s and IHOP franchise restaurants formed Centralized Supply Chain Services, LLC (“CSCS”

or the “Co-op”) to manage procurement activities for the Applebee’s and IHOP restaurants choosing to join the Co-op. CSCS meets the definition of a VIE
under U.S. GAAP. Under the terms of the Co-op agreements, each member restaurant belonging to CSCS has equal and identical ownership rights and
obligations. IHOP franchise restaurants to which the Company has provided financial support in the form of loans to purchase franchises and equipment are
considered de facto agents of the Company for purposes of determining the primary beneficiary of the VIE. Company-owned Applebee’s and IHOP
restaurants, in addition to the IHOP franchise restaurants deemed to be de facto agents, comprised only 33.6% of the CSCS membership as of the date of
determination of the primary beneficiary of the VIE. Accordingly, the Company is not considered to be the primary beneficiary of the VIE and therefore does
not consolidate the results of CSCS.

 
Under the Co-op agreements, the Company is obligated to make a one-time payment to CSCS for start-up costs of $6.3 million, $5.5 million of

which has been paid as of September 30, 2009, with a payment of $0.8 million due in January 2010. The Company is not obligated to provide any support to
the Co-op under any express or implied agreement beyond this $6.3 million.

 
The Co-op does not purchase items on behalf of member restaurants; rather, it facilitates purchasing agreements and distribution arrangements

between suppliers and member restaurants. Because of this, it is anticipated that CSCS will acquire a minimal amount of assets and incur a minimal amount of
liabilities. Each member restaurant is responsible for only the goods and services it chooses to purchase and bears no responsibility or risk of loss for goods
and services purchased by other member restaurants. Based on these facts, the Company believes its maximum estimated loss related to its membership in the
Co-op is de minimis.

 
16. Commitments and Contingencies
 
Litigation, Claims and Disputes
 

The Company is subject to various lawsuits, claims and governmental inspections or audits arising in the ordinary course of business. Some of these
lawsuits purport to be class actions and/or seek substantial damages. In the opinion of management, these matters are adequately covered by insurance or, if
not so covered, are without merit or are of such a nature or involve amounts that would not have a material adverse impact on the Company’s business or
consolidated financial statements.

 
Gerald Fast v. Applebee’s
 
The Company is currently defending a collective action filed under the Fair Labor Standards Act styled Gerald Fast v. Applebee’s International, Inc.,

in which named plaintiffs claim that tipped workers in company restaurants perform excessive amounts of non-tipped work for which they should be
compensated at the minimum wage.  The court has conditionally certified a nationwide class of servers and bartenders who have worked in company-
operated Applebee’s restaurants since June 19, 2004.  Unlike a class action, a collective action requires potential class members to “opt in” rather than “opt
out.”  On February 12, 2008, 5,540 opt-in forms were filed with the court.

 
In cases of this type, conditional certification of the plaintiff class is granted under a lenient standard.  On January 15, 2009, the Company filed a

motion seeking to have the class de-certified and the plaintiffs filed a motion for summary judgment, both of which were denied by the court.  The parties
stipulated to a bench trial which was set to begin on September 8, 2009 in Jefferson City, Missouri.  Just prior to trial, however, the court vacated the trial
setting in order to submit key legal issues to the 8th Circuit for review on interlocutory appeal.  Briefing on the issues for interlocutory appeal was completed
by the parties on October 2, 2009.

 
The Company believes it has strong defenses to the substantive claims asserted and intends to vigorously defend this case.  An estimate of the

possible loss, if any, or the range of the loss cannot be made and, therefore, the Company has not accrued a loss contingency related to this matter.
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16. Commitments and Contingencies, continued
 
Lease Guarantees
 

As of September 30, 2009, in connection with the sale of Applebee’s restaurants or previous brands to franchisees and other parties, the Company
has, in certain cases, guaranteed or had potential continuing liability for lease payments totaling $121.5 million. This amount represents the maximum
potential liability of future payments under these leases. These leases have been assigned to the buyers and expire at the end of the respective lease terms,
which range from 2009 through 2044. In the event of default, the indemnity and default clauses in our sale or assignment agreements govern our ability to
pursue and recover damages incurred.  No material liabilities have been recorded as of September 30, 2009.

 
17. Preferred Stock
 

The Certificate of Designations for Series A Perpetual Preferred Stock requires that upon the occurrence of a Change of Control, unless prohibited by
applicable law, the Company shall redeem all then outstanding shares of the Series A Perpetual Preferred Stock for cash at a redemption price per share
corresponding to the timing of such Change of Control, as specified in the Certificate of Designations.  U.S. GAAP requires preferred securities that are
redeemable for cash or other assets to be classified outside of permanent equity if they are redeemable upon the occurrence of an event that is not solely
within the control of the issuer. Accordingly, the Series A Perpetual Preferred Stock is not included as a component of Stockholders’ Equity in the
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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Item 2.  Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
 
Forward-Looking Statements
 

The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 provides a safe harbor for forward-looking statements in certain circumstances. This report
contains statements that involve expectations, plans or intentions (such as those relating to future business or financial results, new features or services, or
management strategies). These statements are forward-looking and are subject to risks and uncertainties, so actual results may vary materially from those
expressed or implied by any forward-looking statements. You can identify these forward-looking statements by words such as “may,” “will,” “should,”
“expect,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “intend,” “plan” and other similar expressions. You should consider our forward-looking statements in light of
the risks discussed under the heading “Risk Factors” in our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K, as well as our consolidated financial statements, related
notes, and the other financial information appearing elsewhere in this report and our other filings with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission. We
assume no obligation to update any forward-looking statements.

 
Overview
 

The following discussion and analysis provides information we believe is relevant to an assessment and understanding of our consolidated results of
operations and financial condition. The discussion should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto included
in Item 1 of Part I of this Quarterly Report and the audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto and Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations contained in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008.
Except where the context indicates otherwise, the words “we,” “us,” “our” and the “Company” refer to DineEquity, Inc., together with its subsidiaries that are
consolidated in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”).

 
The Company was incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware in 1976. The first International House of Pancakes (“IHOP”) restaurant

opened in 1958 in Toluca Lake, California. Shortly thereafter the Company’s predecessor began developing and franchising additional restaurants. In
November 2007, the Company completed the acquisition of Applebee’s International, Inc. (“Applebee’s”), which became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company. Through various IHOP and Applebee’s subsidiaries we own, operate and franchise two restaurant concepts in the casual dining and family dining
categories of the food service industry: Applebee’s Neighborhood Grill and Bar  and IHOP. Dine Equity, Inc. is the ultimate parent of the IHOP and
Applebee’s subsidiaries. References herein to Applebee’s and IHOP restaurants are to these two restaurant concepts, whether operated by franchisees or the
Company. References herein to “system sales” include retail sales at restaurants that are owned by franchisees and area licensees and are not attributable to
the Company. With more than 3,400 franchised or owned-and-operated restaurants combined, we are the largest full-service restaurant company in the world.

 
Restaurant Concepts
 

Applebee’s
 
We franchise and operate restaurants in the bar and grill segment of the casual dining industry under the name “Applebee’s Neighborhood Grill &

Bar .” With 2,002 system-wide restaurants as of September 30, 2009, Applebee’s Neighborhood Grill & Bar is the largest casual dining concept in the world,
in terms of number of restaurants and market share.

 
Generally, Applebee’s franchise arrangements consist of a development agreement and separate franchise agreements for each franchised restaurant.

Development agreements grant to the franchise developer the exclusive right to develop Applebee’s restaurants in a designated geographic area over a
specified period of time. The term of a domestic development agreement is generally 20 years. The development agreement typically provides for an initial
development schedule of one to five years, as agreed upon by the Company and the franchisee. At or shortly prior to the completion of the initial
development schedule or any subsequent development schedule, the Company and the franchisee generally agree upon supplemental development
schedules providing for the development of additional Applebee’s restaurants in the franchise developer’s exclusive territory.

 
Prior to the opening of each new Applebee’s restaurant, the franchisee and the Company enter into a separate franchise agreement for that restaurant.

Our standard franchise agreement has a term of 20 years and permits renewals for up to an additional 20 years upon payment of an additional franchise fee.
Our current standard franchise arrangement calls for an initial franchise fee of $35,000 and a royalty fee equal to 4% of the restaurant’s monthly net sales. We
have agreements with a majority of our franchisees for Applebee’s restaurants opened before January 1, 2000, which provide for a royalty rate of 4% and
extend the initial term of the franchise agreements until 2020. The terms, royalties and advertising fees under a limited number of franchise agreements and
other franchise fees under older development agreements vary from the currently offered arrangements.

 
We currently require domestic franchisees of Applebee’s restaurants to contribute 2.75% of their gross sales to a national advertising fund and to

spend at least 1% of their gross sales on local marketing and promotional activities. Under most Applebee’s franchise agreements, we have the ability to
increase the amount of the required combined contribution to the national advertising fund and the amount required to be spent on local marketing and
promotional activities to a maximum of 5% of gross sales.

 
Since the completion of the Applebee’s acquisition on November 29, 2007, we have been pursuing a strategy which contemplates transitioning from

our current 80% franchised system to an approximately 98% franchised system. Between November 29, 2007 and September 30, 2009 we have franchised
110 company-owned restaurants in the California, Nevada, Delaware, Texas and
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New Mexico markets. This heavily franchised business model is expected to require less capital investment and reduce the volatility of cash flow
performance over time.  A range of factors, including the overall market for restaurant franchises, the availability of financing and the financial and operating
performance of Applebee’s company-owned restaurants, can impact the likelihood and timing of the completion of this strategy as well as the ultimate
proceeds the Company will receive from franchising the company-operated restaurants.  The Company continues to monitor these factors and to assess their
impact on possible franchise transactions.  The Company may choose to suspend or revise its franchising strategy if it does not believe that conditions will
lead to satisfactory proceeds from the sale of its company-operated restaurants.

 
IHOP
 
Under our current business model (the “Current Business Model”), which was adopted in January 2003, a potential franchisee first negotiates and

enters into a single-store development agreement or a multi-store development agreement with the Company and, upon completion of a prescribed approval
procedure, is primarily responsible for the development and financing of one or more new IHOP franchised restaurants. In general, we do not provide any
financing with respect to the franchise fee or otherwise. The franchise developer uses its own capital and financial resources along with third party financial
sources to purchase or lease a restaurant site, build and equip the business and fund its working capital needs. The principal terms of the franchise agreements
entered into under the Company’s business model prior to 2003 (the “Previous Business Model”) and the Current Business Model, including the franchise
royalties and the franchise advertising fees, are substantially the same except with respect to the terms relating to the franchise fee.

 
The revenues received by the Company from a typical franchise development arrangement under the Current Business Model include (a) (i) a

location fee equal to $15,000 upon execution of a single-store development agreement or (ii) a development fee equal to $20,000 for each IHOP restaurant
that the franchisee contracts to develop upon execution of a multi-store development agreement; (b) a franchise fee equal to (i) $50,000 (against which the
$15,000 location fee will be credited) for a restaurant developed under a single-store development agreement or (ii) $40,000 (against which the $20,000
development fee will be credited) for each restaurant developed under a multi-store development agreement, in each case, paid upon execution of the
franchise agreement; (c) franchise royalties equal to 4.5% of weekly gross sales; (d) revenue from the sale of pancake and waffle dry-mixes; and (e) franchise
advertising fees.

 
IHOP franchised restaurants established prior to 2003 under the Previous Business Model were generally developed by the Company. The Company

was involved in all aspects of the development and financing of the restaurants. Under the Previous Business Model, the Company typically identified and
leased or purchased the restaurant sites for new company-developed IHOP restaurants, built and equipped the restaurants and then franchised them to
franchisees. In addition, IHOP typically financed as much as 80% of the franchise fee for periods ranging from five to eight years and leased the restaurant and
equipment to the franchisee over a 25-year period.

 
The revenues received from a restaurant franchised under the Previous Business Model include: (a) the franchise fee, a portion of which (typically

20%) was paid upon execution of the franchise agreement; (b) interest income from the financing arrangements for the unpaid portion of the franchise fee
under the franchise notes; (c) franchise royalties typically equal to 4.5% of weekly gross sales; (d) lease or sublease rents for the restaurant property and
building; (e) rent under an equipment lease; (f) revenues from the sale of pancake and waffle dry-mixes; and (g) franchise advertising fees.

 
The franchise agreements generally provide for advertising fees comprised of (i) a local advertising fee generally equal to 2.0% of weekly gross sales

under the franchise agreement, which was usually collected by us and then used to cover the cost of local media purchases and other local advertising
expenses incurred by a local advertising cooperative, and (ii) a national advertising fee equal to 1.0% of weekly gross sales under the franchise agreement.
Area licensees generally pay lesser amounts toward advertising. Beginning in 2005, the Company and the IHOP franchisees agreed to reallocate portions of
the local advertising fees to purchase national broadcast, syndication and cable television time in order to reach our target audience more frequently and
more cost effectively. In a few instances, we have agreed to accept reduced royalties and/or lease payments from franchisees or have provided other
accommodations to franchisees for specified periods of time in order to assist them in either establishing or reinvigorating their businesses.
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The following table summarizes Applebee’s restaurant development and franchising activity:
 

Three Months Ended
September 30,

 

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

 

2009 2008
 

2009
 

2008
 

(unaudited)
 

Applebee’s Restaurant Development Activity
Beginning of period 1,992 1,993 2,004 1,976
New openings

Company-developed — — — 1
Franchise-developed 13 7 23 34

Total new openings 13 7 23 35
Closings

Company — — — (3)
Franchise (3) (3) (25) (11)

End of period 2,002 1,997 2,002 1,997
Summary-end of period
Franchise 1,603 1,517 1,603 1,517
Company 399 480 399 480

Total 2,002 1,997 2,002 1,997
Restaurant Franchising Activity
Domestic franchise-developed 5 6 12 23
International franchise-developed 8 1 11 11
Refranchised 2 29 7 29

Total restaurants franchised 15 36 30 63
Closings

Domestic franchise (3) (2) (21) (9)
International franchise — (1) (4) (2)

Total franchise closings (3) (3) (25) (11)
Net addition 12 33 5 52

 
The increase in Applebee’s franchise closings in 2009 was due primarily to the closing of seven restaurants after the franchise agreements were

terminated due to nonpayment of royalties and advertising fees.  One of the seven restaurants re-opened under new ownership in 2009, and the Company
expects two additional restaurants to re-open under new ownership in 2010.  Another reason for the increase was six of the restaurants closed in 2009 were
originally planned to be closed in 2008.

 
The following table represents Applebee’s restaurant development commitments for 2009 and 2010. We have disclosed development commitments

for only a two-year period as the Applebee’s development agreements generally provide for a series of two-year development commitments after the initial
development period.

 

 

Contractual
Opening of

Restaurants by Year
 

2009 2010
Domestic development agreements 19 15
International development agreements 23 18

42 33
 
In 2009, we expect franchisees to open a total of 28 to 33 new Applebee’s restaurants including 16 to 18 domestic franchise restaurants and 12 to 15

international franchise restaurants. We currently do not plan to open any domestic company-operated restaurants. The actual number of openings may differ
from our expectations due to various factors, including economic conditions, operating performance of existing restaurants, franchisee access to capital and
the impact of currency fluctuations on our international franchisees. The timing of new restaurant openings may also be affected by various factors including
weather-related and other construction delays and difficulties in obtaining regulatory approvals.
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The following table summarizes IHOP restaurant development and franchising activity:
 

 

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

 

2009
 

2008 2009 2008
 

(unaudited)
IHOP Restaurant Development Activity
Beginning of period 1,421 1,361 1,396 1,344
New openings

Company-developed — — — —
Franchise-developed 12 18 43 43
Area license 1 1 4 2

Total new openings 13 19 47 45
Closings

Company — — — (1)
Franchise (1) (5) (8) (11)
Area license — — (2) (2)

End of period 1,433 1,375 1,433 1,375
Summary-end of period
Franchise 1,260 1,205 1,260 1,205
Company 11 13 11 13
Area license 162 157 162 157

Total 1,433 1,375 1,433 1,375
Restaurant Franchising Activity
Domestic franchise-developed 11 17 39 41
International franchise-developed 1 1 4 2
Refranchised — 1 1 10

Total restaurants franchised 12 19 44 53
Closings

Domestic franchise (1) (5) (8) (10)
International franchise — — — (1)

Total franchise closings (1) (5) (8) (11)
Reacquired by the Company — (4) (1) (13)

Net addition 11 10 35 29
 
As of the beginning of 2009, we had signed commitments from franchisees to build 307 IHOP restaurants over the next nine years plus options for an

additional 111 restaurants, comprised as follows:
 

  

Contractual Openings of
Restaurants by Year

 

Number of Signed 
Agreements at 12/31/08

 

2009
 

2010
 

2011
 

2012 and
thereafter

 

Total
Single-store development agreements 18 12 5 1 — 18
Multi-store development agreements 80 74 55 43 165 337
International development agreements 7 8 6 5 44 63

105 94 66 49 209 418
 
In 2009, a total of 65 to 75 new IHOP restaurants are expected to open, consisting of 55 to 60 franchise restaurants, three to five area license

restaurants in Florida, two to three domestic restaurants in non-traditional channels and five to seven restaurants outside the U.S. The actual number of
openings in any period may differ from the number of signed commitments. Historically, the actual number of restaurants developed in a particular year has
been less than the total number committed to be developed due to various factors including weather-related delays, other construction delays, difficulties in
obtaining timely regulatory approvals and various economic factors, including operating performance of existing restaurants and franchisee access to capital
financing.
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Restaurant Data

 
The following table sets forth, for the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2009 and 2008, the number of effective restaurants

in the Applebee’s and IHOP systems and information regarding the percentage change in sales at those restaurants compared to the same periods in the prior
year. “Effective restaurants” are the number of restaurants in a given period, adjusted to account for restaurants open for only a portion of the period.
Information is presented for all effective restaurants in the IHOP and Applebee’s systems, which includes restaurants owned by the Company, as well as those
owned by franchisees and area licensees. Sales at restaurants that are owned by franchisees and area licensees are not attributable to the Company. However,
we believe that presentation of this information is useful in analyzing our revenues because franchisees and area licensees pay us royalties and advertising
fees that are generally based on a percentage of their sales, as well as rental payments under leases that are usually based on a percentage of their sales.
Management also uses this information to make decisions about future plans for the development of additional restaurants as well as evaluation of current
operations.

 
Three Months Ended

September 30,
Nine Months Ended

September 30,
2009 2008 2009

 

2008
(unaudited)

Applebee’s Restaurant Data
Effective restaurants(a)

Franchise 1,598 1,513 1,592 1,487
Company 399 481 402 501

Total 1,997 1,994 1,994 1,988
System-wide(b)

Sales percentage change(c) (6.3)% (1.5)% (4.2)% 0.6%
Domestic same-store sales percentage change(d) (6.5)% (3.1)% (4.5)% (1.4)%

Franchise(b)(e)
Sales percentage change(c)(g) (1.0)% 1.2% 2.3% 1.6%
Same-store sales percentage change(d) (6.2)% (3.1)% (4.4)% (1.6)%
Average weekly domestic unit sales (in thousands) $ 42.9 $ 45.7 $ 46.3 $ 48.4

Company
Sales percentage change(c)(g) (22.7)% (9.3)% (23.9)% (2.3)%
Same-store sales percentage change(d) (7.6)% (3.1)% (5.1)% (0.6)%
Average weekly domestic unit sales (in thousands) $ 39.0 $ 41.9 $ 41.9 $ 44.3

 
Three Months Ended

September 30,
Nine Months Ended

September 30,
2009 2008 2009

 

2008
(unaudited)

IHOP Restaurant Data
Effective restaurants(a)

Franchise 1,251 1,190 1,237 1,183
Company 11 10 11 10
Area license 162 157 160 157

Total 1,424 1,357 1,408 1,350
System-wide(b)

Sales percentage change(c) 3.8% 3.8% 4.3% 6.1%
Domestic same-store sales percentage change(d) (1.1)% 0.2% 0.2% 2.2%

Franchise(b)(e)
Sales percentage change(c) 4.2% 4.3% 4.8% 6.7%
Same-store sales percentage change(d) (1.1)% 0.3% 0.1% 2.2%
Average weekly unit sales (in thousands) $ 35.1 $ 35.4 $ 35.6 $ 35.5

Company(f) n.m. n.m. n.m. n.m.
Area License(h)

Sales percentage change(c) (0.7)% 0.7% (0.4)% 2.1%
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(a)             “Effective restaurants” are the number of restaurants in a given fiscal period adjusted to account for restaurants open for only a portion of the period.
Information is presented for all effective restaurants in the IHOP and Applebee’s systems, which includes restaurants owned by the Company as well as
those owned by franchisees and area licensees.

 
(b)            “System-wide sales” are retail sales at IHOP and Applebee’s restaurants operated by franchisees and IHOP restaurants operated by area licensees, as

reported to the Company, in addition to retail sales at company-operated restaurants.  Sales at restaurants that are owned by franchisees and area
licensees are not attributable to the Company.

 
(c)             “Sales percentage change” reflects, for each category of restaurants, the percentage change in sales in any given fiscal period compared to the prior fiscal

period for all restaurants in that category.
 
(d)            “Same-store sales percentage change” reflects the percentage change in sales, in any given fiscal period compared to the prior fiscal period, for

restaurants that have been operated throughout both fiscal periods that are being compared and have been open for at least 18 months. Because of new
unit openings and store closures, the restaurants open throughout both fiscal periods being compared may be different from period to period. Same-store
sales percentage change does not include data on IHOP restaurants located in Florida.

 
(e)             IHOP franchise restaurant sales were $570.9 million and $547.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively, and

$1,717.2 million and $1,638.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively. Applebee’s franchise restaurant sales were
$818.7 million and $827.3 million for the three months ended September 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively, and $2,645.0 million and $2,584.9 million
for the nine months ended September 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

 
(f)               Sales percentage change and same-store sales percentage change for IHOP company-operated restaurants are not meaningful due to the relatively small

number and test-market nature of the restaurants, along with the periodic inclusion of restaurants reacquired from franchisees that are temporarily
operated by the Company.

 
(g)            The sales percentage change for Applebee’s franchise and company-operated restaurants is impacted by the franchising of 103 company-operated

restaurants during 2008 and seven company-operated restaurants in 2009.
 
(h)            Sales at IHOP area license restaurants were $51.6 million and $52.0 million for the three months ended September 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively, and

$162.6 million and $163.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
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Significant Known Events, Trends or Uncertainties Impacting or Expected to Impact Comparisons of Reported or Future Results
 

Global Economic Contraction
 
Beginning in 2008 and continuing into 2009, economic conditions in both the U.S. and worldwide have experienced a downturn due to the

compounded effects of the subprime lending crisis, the credit market liquidity crisis, and the collateral effects of each on the finance and banking industries.
In addition, volatile energy costs, concerns about inflation and deflation, slowing economic activity, softness in both the commercial and residential real
estate markets, decreased consumer confidence, reduced corporate profits and capital spending and rising unemployment have combined to create generally
adverse business conditions for most industries and sectors, including the casual dining and family dining segments of the restaurant industry. While the
liquidity crisis and its effects on the finance and banking industries have mitigated somewhat, we believe financial market volatility, rising unemployment,
increasing foreclosures and lower valuations for residential real estate will continue to put pressure on consumer spending. These conditions make it
challenging for us to accurately forecast and plan future business activities as the reduction in disposable income for discretionary spending could cause our
customers to change historic purchasing behavior and choose lower-cost dining options or alternatives to dining out.

 
These economic developments may affect our business and operations in a number of ways, including but not limited to:
 
·                   lower profitability and cash flows from company-operated restaurants;
 
·                   reduced cash flows from franchisees due to both a lower sales base on which royalties and other payments are calculated and possible

impairment of the ability of franchisees to make payments when due as a result of the economic effects cited above on their businesses;
 
·                   reduced availability of financing for franchisees to fulfill their new restaurant development commitments;
 
·                   limited or lack of credit availability for potential purchasers of Applebee’s company-operated restaurants;
 
·                   lower proceeds from the franchising of Applebee’s company-operated restaurants due to both lower restaurant sales and profitability and/or

inability to consummate transactions at all; and
 
·                   lower estimated fair values for goodwill, intangible assets and long-lived assets resulting in future non-cash impairment charges.
 
We cannot predict the effect or duration of this economic slowdown or the timing and strength of a subsequent recovery in the economy in general

or the restaurant industry in particular. If our business significantly deteriorates due to these macroeconomic effects, our financial condition and results of
operations will likely be materially and adversely affected.

 
Securitized Debt and Related Interest Expense
 
Certain of our subsidiaries incurred a substantial amount of indebtedness to finance the Applebee’s acquisition. As a result, our interest expense has

increased significantly from that reported prior to the acquisition and is expected to remain as one of the largest components of costs and expenses in the
future until such time that debt balances are repaid or otherwise retired. We estimate the interest expense for fiscal 2009 will be at the lower end of a range
from approximately $185 million to $195 million, which includes approximately $40 million of non-cash interest charges.

 
Significant Gains and Charges
 
There were several significant gains and charges affecting the comparisons with previously reported results. In the nine months ended September 30,

2009, we recognized a gain on extinguishment of debt of $38.8 million, a gain on disposition of assets of $7.3 million and impairment and closure charges of
$6.5 million. In the comparable period of 2008, we recognized impairment and closure charges of $69.9 million, a gain on extinguishment of debt of
$2.4 million and a gain on disposition of assets of $0.4 million. These transactions are discussed in further detail under paragraphs captioned “Impairment
and Closure Charges,” “Gain on Extinguishment of Debt” and “Gain on Disposition of Assets.”

 
We expect to continue to seek opportunities to dedicate a portion of excess cash flow towards opportunistic debt retirement. Since the fair value of

our debt is currently less than its carrying value, it is reasonably possible that extinguishments of debt repurchased on the open market will result in gains in
future periods.
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Financial Statement Effect of Franchising Company-Operated Restaurants
 
We have franchised 110 Applebee’s company-operated restaurants and plan to franchise a substantial majority of the remaining 399 company-

operated Applebee’s restaurants when such transactions make sense for the business. As mentioned above in “Restaurant Concepts — Applebee’s,” the
Company considers a range of factors that could impact the likelihood of future franchise sales and possible proceeds from such sales. The Company may
suspend or delay its plans to sell company-operated Applebee’s restaurants if it does not believe the sales proceeds would be satisfactory. If the number of
company-operated restaurants declines, the amount of Company restaurant revenues and Company restaurant expenses in future periods will decline as well
compared to amounts reported in previous periods. Franchise royalty revenues and expenses will likely increase as company-operated restaurants are
franchised, although not in the same magnitude as the Company restaurant revenues decline as franchise royalties are based on a percentage of the
franchisee’s revenues. As a result, on a net basis, segment profit will likely decline. Under the terms of our securitized debt agreements, all proceeds of asset
dispositions must be used to retire debt on a pro-rata basis. Accordingly, franchising of additional Applebee’s company-operated restaurants will result in a
reduction of long-term debt and a reduction of related interest expense. Franchising of additional Applebee’s company-operated restaurants will also result in
a reduction of general and administrative expenses.

 
Segments
 

We identify our segments based on the organizational units used by management to monitor performance and make operating decisions. The
Company’s revenues and expenses are recorded in four segments: franchise operations, company restaurant operations, rental operations, and financing
operations.

 
The franchise operations segment consists of (i) restaurants operated by Applebee’s franchisees in the United States, one U.S. territory and 14

countries outside the United States; and (ii) restaurants operated by IHOP franchisees and area licensees in the United States, Canada and Mexico. Franchise
operations revenue consists primarily of franchise royalty revenues, sales of proprietary products, certain franchise advertising fees and the portion of the
franchise fees allocated to intellectual property.  Franchise operations expenses include advertising expense, the cost of proprietary products, pre-opening
training expenses and costs related to intellectual property provided to certain franchisees.

 
The company restaurant operations segment consists of company-operated Applebee’s and IHOP restaurants and, from time to time, IHOP restaurants

reacquired from franchisees that are operated on a temporary basis. Company restaurant sales are retail sales at company-operated restaurants. Company
restaurant expenses are operating expenses at company-operated restaurants and include food, labor, benefits, utilities, rent and other restaurant operating
costs.

 
Rental operations revenue includes revenue from operating leases and interest income from direct financing leases. Rental operations expenses are

costs of operating leases and interest expense on capital leases on franchisee-operated restaurants.
 
Financing operations revenue consists of the portion of franchise fees not allocated to intellectual property, sales of equipment, as well as interest

income from the financing of franchise fees and equipment leases. Financing expenses are primarily the cost of restaurant equipment.
 

Comparison of the Three Months ended September 30, 2009 and 2008
 
Results of Operations
 

Key components of changes in our financial results for the three months ended September 30, 2009 compared to the comparable period of 2008
included:

 
·                   Revenues decreased $57.6 million, primarily due to (a) lower company restaurant revenues resulting from the franchising of 110 company-

operated Applebee’s restaurants since the second quarter of 2008 and a 7.6% decrease in Applebee’s company restaurant same-store sales; (b) a
6.2% decrease in same-store sales for Applebee’s domestic franchise restaurants; and (c) and a 1.1% decrease in same-store sales for IHOP
domestic franchise restaurants, partially offset by (d) higher franchise revenues resulting from an increase in effective franchise units at both
Applebee’s and IHOP.

 
·                   Segment profit for the third quarter of 2009 decreased $1.1 million, comprised as follows:
 

Franchise operations $ 1.6
Company restaurant operations (2.4)
Rental operations 0.2
Financing operations (0.5)
Total segment profit $ (1.1)
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The decline was primarily due to the net effect of franchising 110 company-operated Applebee’s restaurants since the second quarter of 2008
and a decline in IHOP and Applebee’s same-store sales, partially offset by an increase in IHOP and Applebee’s effective franchise units and
margin improvements in Applebee’s company-operated restaurants.
 

·                   Impairment and closure charges totaled $4.5 million for the third quarter of 2009 compared to $28.5 million for the third quarter of 2008.
 

·                   The Company recognized a gain on the disposition of assets of $2.1 million in the third quarter of 2009 compared to a gain on the repurchase of
debt at a discount of $2.4 million and a gain on the disposition of assets of $0.3 million in the third quarter of 2008.

 
·                   General and administrative expenses decreased $5.9 million due primarily to the franchising of 110 Applebee’s company-operated restaurants,

integration of Applebee’s and IHOP administrative functions and other cost reduction initiatives implemented in 2009, including the
establishment of a purchasing co-operative in February 2009.
 

·                   Interest expense was $5.3 million lower due to the early retirement of fixed rate debt and lower interest rates on the Company’s variable rate
lines of credit.

 
Franchise Operations
 

 

Three Months Ended
September 30,

 

Favorable
(Unfavorable)

 

 

2009
 

2008
 

Variance
 

 

(In millions)
 

Franchise Revenues
Applebee’s $ 35.3 $ 35.7 $ (0.4)
IHOP 54.9 51.7 3.2

Total franchise revenues 90.2 87.4 2.8
Franchise Expenses

Applebee’s 0.5 0.6 0.1
IHOP 24.9 23.6 (1.3)

Total franchise expenses 25.4 24.2 (1.2)
Franchise Segment Profit

Applebee’s 34.8 35.1 (0.3)
IHOP 30.0 28.1 1.9

Total franchise segment profit $ 64.8 $ 63.2 $ 1.6
 

The decrease in Applebee’s franchise revenue was primarily attributable to a 6.2% decline in same-store sales for Applebee’s domestic franchise
restaurants and a decrease in franchise transfer fees, partially offset by an increase in effective franchise restaurants of 85 units due primarily to the franchising
of 110 company-operated restaurants since the second quarter of 2008.

 
The increase in IHOP franchise revenue was primarily attributable to growth in effective franchise and area license restaurants of 66 units that

impacted revenues from royalties, pancake and waffle dry mix sales and franchise advertising fees, partially offset by a decrease of 1.1% in same-store sales
for IHOP domestic franchise restaurants. Same-store sales declined as a higher average guest check was offset by a decline in guest traffic. The Company
believes that the decline experienced in comparable guest traffic is reflective of the current adverse economic conditions affecting customers and impacting
the restaurant industry as a whole.

 
The $1.3 million increase in IHOP franchise expenses is due to the costs of sales associated with the increased revenues from pancake and waffle dry

mix sales and franchise advertising fees. The $1.6 million increase in consolidated franchise operations profit is due to the increase in IHOP franchise
royalties.
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Company Restaurant Operations
 

Three Months Ended
September 30,

 

Favorable
(Unfavorable)

2009
 

2008
 

Variance
(In millions)

Company restaurant sales $ 206.4 $ 265.9 $ (59.5)
Company restaurant expenses 179.3 236.4 57.1
Company restaurant segment profit $ 27.1 $ 29.5 $ (2.4)

 
As of September 30, 2009, Company restaurant operations were comprised of 399 Applebee’s company-operated restaurants and 11 IHOP company-

operated restaurants. The impact of the IHOP restaurants on all comparisons of the three months ended September 30, 2009 with the same period of 2008 was
negligible.

 
Company restaurant sales decreased $59.5 million. Applebee’s company restaurant sales declined $43.4 million due to the franchising of 110

restaurants since the second quarter of 2008. Applebee’s restaurant sales also declined $16.2 million due primarily to a 7.6% decrease in same-store sales. 
The change in same-store sales was driven mainly by a decline in guest traffic that was partially offset by a slightly higher average guest check. An increase
of 2.4% in effective pricing during the quarter was substantially offset by an unfavorable mix shift due to promotional campaigns and customer selection of,
on average, lower-priced menu items. The Company believes that the decline in comparable guest traffic is reflective of the current adverse economic
conditions affecting customers and impacting the restaurant industry as a whole.

 
Company restaurant expenses decreased $57.1 million. Applebee’s company restaurant expenses declined $39.6 million due to the franchising of

110 restaurants since the second quarter of 2008 and declined $8.9 million due to the decrease in same store sales. The operating margin for company
restaurant operations improved 2.2%, to 13.6% for the third quarter of 2009 from 11.4% for the same period of last year, as shown below:

 
Restaurant Expenses as Percentage of Restaurant Sales (Applebee’s)

 
Three Months Ended

September 30,
Favorable

(Unfavorable)
 

2009 2008 Variance
 

Food and beverage 26.3% 27.0% 0.7%
Labor 33.2% 34.5% 1.3%
Direct and occupancy 26.9% 27.1% 0.2%
Total Company Restaurant Expenses (a) 86.4% 88.6% 2.2%

 

(a) Percentages may not add due to rounding.
 
Margins across all cost categories were favorably impacted by two factors: (a) effective pricing increases partially offset by an unfavorable mix shift

and (b) the franchising of restaurants which, as a group, operated at a margin less than the company average. Improvements in specific cost categories were as
follows:

 
·                   Food and beverage costs as a percentage of company restaurant sales decreased primarily due to the impact of vendor discounts and rebates.

 
·                   Labor costs as a percentage of restaurant sales benefited from improvements in hourly labor from effective wage rate management and improved

productivity, and a reduction in management incentive expense due to retention costs in 2008 that did not recur.
 

·                   Direct and occupancy costs as a percentage of company restaurant sales decreased primarily due to lower natural gas rates offset by unfavorable
facility costs for rent, depreciation and insurance due to lower sales volume.
 

Rental Operations
 

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Favorable
(Unfavorable)

2009 2008 Variance
(In millions)

Rental revenues $ 33.0 $ 33.0 $ —
Rental expenses 24.3 24.5 0.2
Rental operations segment profit $ 8.7 $ 8.5 $ 0.2

 
Rental operations relate primarily to IHOP restaurants. Rental income includes revenue from operating leases and interest income from direct

financing leases. Rental expenses are costs of prime operating leases and interest expense on prime capital leases
 

26



Table of Contents
 

on franchisee-operated restaurants.
 
Rental operations profit increased by $0.2 million for the quarter ended September 30, 2009 compared to the same period of the prior year due to a

slight decline in depreciation and interest expense.
 

Financing Operations
 

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Favorable
(Unfavorable)

 

2009 2008 Variance
 

(In millions)
 

Financing revenues $ 4.1 $ 4.9 $ (0.8)
Financing expenses — 0.3 0.3
Financing operations segment profit $ 4.1 $ 4.6 $ (0.5)

 
All of our financing operations relate to IHOP restaurants. Franchise and equipment note interest revenue declined $0.3 million due to the ongoing

reduction in note balances. In addition, there were revenues and expenses of $0.5 million and $0.3 million, respectively, in the third quarter of 2008 related
to the sale of franchises and equipment as compared with minimal activity in the third quarter of 2009.

 
General and Administrative Expenses
 

General and administrative expenses decreased by $5.9 million. Expense savings resulted from the franchising of 110 Applebee’s company-operated
restaurants, integration of Applebee’s and IHOP administrative functions and other cost reduction initiatives implemented in 2009, including the
establishment of a purchasing co-operative in February 2009. Additionally, transition-related costs recorded in the second quarter of 2008 did not recur.

 
Interest Expense
 

Interest expense decreased by $5.3 million primarily due to the early retirement of long-term debt over the past 12 months. Average long-term
obligations (long-term debt, capital lease obligations and financing obligations) declined to $2.22 billion during the quarter ended September 30, 2009 from
$2.46 billion during the quarter ended September 30, 2008. Additionally, the weighted average interest rate on variable rate debt declined to approximately
2.4% for the quarter ended September 30, 2009 from approximately 5.0% for the quarter ended September 30, 2008.

 
Impairment and Closure Charges
 

Impairment and closure charges were $4.5 million for the three-month period ended September 30, 2009, comprised of impairment charges of $3.9
million and closure charges of $0.6 million. The closure costs related to a downward revision in the sublease income assumption for a single Applebee’s
restaurant that had been closed prior to 2009. The impairment charges related primarily to four parcels of real estate and one Applebee’s restaurant. The
Company had fee ownership of the properties on which four Applebee’s company-operated restaurants were located. These restaurants were franchised in the
fourth quarter of 2008 but the Company retained ownership of the land and continued to lease the property to the franchisee. The Company’s strategy does
not contemplate retaining such properties as a lessor on a long-term basis. During the third quarter of 2009, the Company determined the properties met the
requirements under U.S. GAAP to be reclassified as assets held for sale. The properties were written down to the estimated fair value that will be received upon
sale, and an impairment of $2.8 million was recognized. As part of the quarterly assessment of the recoverability of long-lived assets, an impairment of $1.1
million was recognized related to one Applebee’s company-operated restaurant whose carrying value was not considered recoverable from undiscounted
future cash flows.

 
The Company recorded impairment charges of $28.5 million for the three-month period ended September 30, 2008. Of that amount, $26.8 million

related to Applebee’s properties and primarily resulted from a continuing deterioration in credit markets in general and a decline in operating results of
Applebee’s company-operated restaurants expected to be franchised in particular geographic areas.  The remainder of the impairment related to an individual
underperforming IHOP property whose estimates of future cash flows indicated the carrying value would not be recovered.

 
Gain on Extinguishment of Debt
 

During the three months ended September 30, 2008, we retired certain Series 2007-1 Class A-2-II-A Fixed Rate Term Senior Notes due
December 2037 with a face amount of $23.5 million for a cash payment of $20.0 million. The transaction resulted in a gain of $2.4 million after the write-off
of the discount and deferred financing costs related to the debt retired. There were no open market repurchases of debt during the three months ended
September 30, 2009.
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Other Income and Expense
 

Other expense was $0.9 million for the three-month period ended September 30, 2009 compared to other income of $0.4 million for the same period
of the prior year. The primary reason for the decrease is lower interest income resulting from significantly lower interest rates on U.S. Treasury-based
investments.

 
Provision for Income Taxes
 

The effective tax rate was 21.5% for the three-month period ended September 30, 2009. The effective tax rate is lower than the federal statutory rate
of 35% primarily due to tax credits and favorable settlements with taxing authorities, partially offset by state income taxes. The tax credits are primarily FICA
tip and other compensation-related tax credits associated with Applebee’s company-owned restaurant operations.

 
Comparison of the Nine Months ended September 30, 2009 and 2008
 
Results of Operations
 

Key components of changes in our financial results for the nine months ended September 30, 2009 compared to the comparable period of 2008
included:

 
·                   Revenues decreased $199.3 million due to (a) lower company restaurant revenues resulting from the franchising of 110 company-operated

Applebee’s restaurants since the second quarter of 2008 and a 5.1% decrease in Applebee’s company restaurant same-store sales; (b) a 4.4%
decrease in same-store sales for Applebee’s domestic franchise restaurants and (c) lower financing revenues resulting from a decrease in sales of
reacquired franchises and equipment. The revenue decreases were partially offset by higher franchise revenues resulting from an increase in
effective franchise units at both Applebee’s and IHOP and a 0.1% increase in IHOP franchise same-store sales.

 
·                   Segment profit for the first nine months of 2009 decreased $0.8 million, comprised as follows:
 

Franchise operations $ 6.7
Company restaurant operations (6.8)
Rental operations 1.4
Financing operations (2.1)
Total segment profit $ (0.8)

 
The decrease was primarily due to the net effect of franchising 110 company-operated Applebee’s restaurants since the second quarter of 2008
and a decline in Applebee’s same-store sales, partially offset by margin improvements in Applebee’s company-operated restaurants, an increase
in IHOP and Applebee’s effective franchise units and an increase in IHOP same-store sales.

 
·                   Impairment and closure charges totaled $6.5 million for the first nine months of 2009 compared to $69.9 million for the first nine months of

2008.
 

·                   General and administrative expenses decreased $21.6 million due primarily to the franchising of 110 Applebee’s company-operated restaurants,
integration of Applebee’s and IHOP administrative functions, other cost reduction initiatives implemented in 2009 and lower stock-based
compensation.
 

·                   The Company recognized gains on the extinguishment of debt and disposition of assets totaling $46.1 million in the first nine months of 2009
related primarily to the repurchase of debt at a discount and the franchising of seven company-operated Applebee’s restaurants in the New
Mexico market, compared with gains on repurchase of debt and disposition of assets of $2.9 million in the first nine months of 2008.

 
·                   Interest expense was $13.1 million lower in the first nine months of 2009 compared to 2008 due to the early retirement of fixed rate debt and

lower interest rates on the Company’s variable rate lines of credit.
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Franchise Operations
 

 

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

 

Favorable
(Unfavorable)

 

2009
 

2008
 

Variance
 

(In millions)
Franchise Revenues

Applebee’s $ 115.7 $ 111.4 $ 4.3
IHOP 163.2 153.4 9.8

Total franchise revenues 278.9 264.8 14.1
Franchise Expenses

Applebee’s 4.3 1.6 (2.7)
IHOP 73.1 68.4 (4.7)

Total franchise expenses 77.4 70.0 (7.4)
Franchise Segment Profit

Applebee’s 111.4 109.8 1.6
IHOP 90.1 85.0 5.1

Total franchise segment profit $ 201.5 $ 194.8 $ 6.7
 

The increase in Applebee’s franchise revenue was primarily attributable to (a) an increase in Applebee’s effective franchise restaurants of 105 units
due primarily to the franchising of 110 company-operated restaurants since the second quarter of 2008; and (b) revenue from temporary liquor license
agreements related to Applebee’s company-operated restaurants in the Texas market which were franchised in October 2008; partially offset by (c) a 4.4%
decline in same-store sales for Applebee’s domestic franchise restaurants and (d) a decrease in franchise fees from reduced restaurant openings. The increase in
Applebee’s franchise expenses is primarily due to costs associated with the revenue from the temporary liquor license agreements that result in a relatively
small profit margin.

 
The increase in IHOP franchise revenue was primarily attributable to an increase of 57 in effective franchise and area license units due to new

openings and an increase of 0.1% in same-store sales for IHOP domestic franchise restaurants compared to the first nine months of 2008, primarily due to a
higher average guest check partially offset by a decrease in guest traffic. Both factors resulted in an increase in revenues from franchise royalties, sales of
pancake and waffle dry mixes and franchise advertising fees. The increase in IHOP franchise expenses is due to the costs of sales associated with the increased
revenues from pancake and waffle dry mix sales and franchise advertising fees.

 
Consolidated franchise operations profit increase of $6.7 million is due primarily to the increase in IHOP and Applebee’s franchise royalties and the

increase in IHOP pancake and waffle dry mix sales.
 

Company Restaurant Operations
 

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

 

Favorable
(Unfavorable)

2009
 

2008
 

Variance
(In millions)

Company restaurant sales $ 668.1 $ 874.3 $ (206.2)
Company restaurant expenses 573.3 772.7 199.4
Company restaurant segment profit $ 94.8 $ 101.6 $ (6.8)

 
As of September 30, 2009 Company restaurant operations were comprised of 399 Applebee’s company-operated restaurants and 11 IHOP company-

operated restaurants. The impact of the IHOP restaurants on all comparisons of the nine months ended September 30, 2009, with the same period of 2008 was
negligible.

 
Company restaurant sales decreased $206.2 million. Applebee’s company restaurant sales declined $170.8 million due to the franchising of 110

restaurants since the second quarter of 2008. Applebee’s restaurant sales also declined $33.6 million due primarily to a 5.1% decrease in same-store sales. 
The change in same-store sales was driven mainly by a decline in guest traffic that was partially offset by a higher average guest check. Approximately half of
a 2.8% increase in effective pricing was offset by an unfavorable mix shift due to promotional campaigns and customer selection of, on average, lower-priced
menu items. The Company believes that the decline in comparable guest traffic is reflective of the current adverse economic conditions affecting customers
and impacting the restaurant industry as a whole.

 
Company restaurant expenses decreased $199.4 million. Applebee’s company restaurant expenses declined $151.4 million due to the franchising of

110 restaurants since the second quarter of 2008 and declined $19.8 due to the decrease in same store sales.
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The operating margin for company restaurant operations improved 2.7%, to 14.7% for the nine months ended September 30, 2009 from 12.0% for the same
period of last year, as shown below:
 

Restaurant Expenses as Percentage of Restaurant Sales (Applebee’s)
 

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

Favorable
(Unfavorable)

 

2009 2008 Variance
 

Food and beverage 26.1% 26.8% 0.7%
Labor 33.4% 35.0% 1.6%
Direct and occupancy 25.8% 26.2% 0.4%
Total Cost of Company Restaurant Sales (a) 85.3% 88.0% 2.7%

 

(a) Percentages may not add due to rounding.
 
Margins across all cost categories were favorably impacted by two factors: (a) effective pricing increases partially offset by an unfavorable mix shift

and (b) the franchising of restaurants which, as a group, operated at a margin less than the company average. Improvements in specific cost categories were as
follows:

 
·                   Food and beverage costs as a percentage of company restaurant sales decreased primarily due to the impact of vendor discounts and rebates partially

offset by slightly higher commodity costs.
 

·                   Labor costs as a percentage of restaurant sales benefited from a reduction in management incentive expense due to nonrecurring retention costs in
2008 that did not recur and lower incentive compensation in 2009, improvements in hourly labor from effective hourly wage rate management and
improved productivity, and favorable group insurance costs.

 
·                   Direct and occupancy costs as a percentage of company restaurant sales decreased primarily due to the timing of local advertising expenses, lower

natural gas rates and favorable straight-line rent adjustments due to 2008 purchase price allocation adjustments offset by unfavorable license
expenses and insurance costs due to lower sales volumes.

 
Applebee’s operating margin of 14.7% for the nine months ended September 30, 2009 is not necessarily indicative of the results that may be

expected for the year ending December 31, 2009. The revenue component of the margin calculation is subject to seasonality for two primary reasons: gift
card redemptions are historically at their highest level in the first quarter of any year and there are more holidays that dampen revenues in the fourth quarter
of the year. As a result, margins in the last fiscal quarter are typically the lowest of any fiscal quarter during the year, although that may not necessarily be the
case this year as the fourth quarter will include a 14  week due to the 53-week fiscal year occurring in 2009. Additionally, we expect advertising expenses
will increase due to the timing of promotions during the rest of 2009. We expect Applebee’s restaurant operating margin for the current year will range
between 13.5% and 14.5%.

 
Rental Operations
 

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

Favorable
(Unfavorable)

 

2009 2008 Variance
 

(In millions)
 

Rental revenues $ 99.2 $ 98.5 $ 0.7
Rental expenses 73.1 73.8 0.7
Rental operations segment profit $ 26.1 $ 24.7 $ 1.4

 
Rental operations relate primarily to IHOP restaurants. Rental income includes revenue from operating leases and interest income from direct

financing leases. Rental expenses are costs of prime operating leases and interest expense on prime capital leases on franchisee-operated restaurants.
 
Rental operations revenues increased by $0.7 million.  The increase was primarily due to the increase in IHOP franchise retail sales on which rents

are based. Rental operations profit increased by $1.4 million due to the revenue increase and a slight decline in depreciation and interest expense.
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Financing Operations
 

 

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

 

Favorable
(Unfavorable)

 

 

2009
 

2008
 

Variance
 

 

(In millions)
 

Financing revenues $ 12.5 $ 20.5 $ (8.0)
Financing expenses 0.3 6.2 5.9
Financing operations segment profit $ 12.2 $ 14.3 $ (2.1)

 
All of our financing operations relate to IHOP restaurants. Franchise and equipment note interest revenue declined $1.2 million due to the ongoing

reduction in note balances. In addition, there was minimal revenue or expense related to the sale of one restaurant during the first nine months of 2009 as
compared with revenues and expenses of $7.1 million and $6.2 million, respectively, in the first nine months of 2008 related to the sale of 14 restaurants.

 
General and Administrative Expenses
 

General and administrative expenses decreased by $21.6 million. Expense savings related to franchising of Applebee’s company-operated
restaurants, integration of Applebee’s and IHOP administrative functions, other cost reduction initiatives implemented in 2009 and lower stock-based
compensation expense. Additionally, transition-related costs recorded in 2008 did not recur. These favorable items were partially offset by $3.0 million of
development incentive credits related to the Applebee’s support center in 2008 that also did not recur in 2009.

 
Interest Expense
 

Interest expense decreased by $13.1 million primarily due to the retirement of long-term debt over the past 12 months. Average long-term
obligations (long-term debt, capital lease obligations and financing obligations) declined to $2.29 billion for the nine months ended September 30, 2009
from $2.45 billion during the nine months ended September 30, 2008. Additionally, the weighted average interest rate on variable rate debt declined to
approximately 2.8% for the nine months ended September 30, 2009 from approximately 5.5% for the nine months ended September 30, 2008.

 
Impairment and Closure Charges
 

Impairment and closure charges were $6.5 million for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2009, comprised of net impairment charges of
$5.9 million and closure charges of $0.6 million.

 
The impairment charges related primarily to four parcels of Applebee’s real estate, two Applebee’s restaurants and one IHOP restaurant. The

Company had fee ownership of the properties on which four Applebee’s company-operated restaurants were located. These restaurants were franchised in the
fourth quarter of 2008 but the Company retained ownership of the land and continued to lease the property to the franchisee. The Company’s strategy does
not contemplate retaining such properties as a lessor on a long-term basis, and the properties have been reclassified as assets held for sale. The properties were
written down to the estimated fair value that will be received upon sale, and an impairment of $2.8 million was recognized. Additionally, as part of the
quarterly assessment of the recoverability of long-lived assets, an impairment of $1.1 million was recognized related to one Applebee’s company-operated
restaurant whose carrying value was not considered recoverable from undiscounted future cash flows. The closure costs related to a downward revision in the
sublease income assumption for a single Applebee’s restaurant that had been closed prior to 2009. These charges were recorded in the third fiscal quarter.
During the six months ended June 30, 2009, the Company recognized net impairment and closure charges of $2.0 million. The charges related primarily to
leasehold improvements and related assets of one IHOP restaurant closed during the period and an additional write-down to the estimated sales value, based
on a current letter of intent, of one Applebee’s restaurant that had been closed in a prior period and was included in assets held for sale. Another Applebee’s
restaurant that had been closed in a prior period and was included in assets held for sale was written down to the estimated sales value, based on a current
letter of intent. Additionally, one IHOP restaurant was closed during the period.

 
Impairment and closure charges were $69.9 million for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2008, comprised of impairment charges of $69.6

million and closure charges of $0.3 million. In June 2008, the Company entered into a sale-leaseback transaction relating to 181 parcels of real estate
comprising land, buildings and improvements. The net book value of the real estate exceeded the proceeds received by $40.6 million. All of the parcels
involved in the transactions had been acquired in the November 29, 2007 acquisition of Applebee’s and their estimated fair value was assigned as part of the
purchase price allocation as of that date. The Company evaluated events subsequent to November 29, 2007 and noted a deterioration in both the domestic
real estate and credit markets between the date of the purchase price allocation and the June 2008 closing date of the sale-leaseback transactions. In the
absence of objective evidence to the contrary, the Company concluded that the estimated fair value of the real estate determined in the purchase price
allocation had been reasonable and the decline in value related primarily to market events subsequent to the acquisition date and therefore was not to an
adjustment to the allocated purchase price. The Company recognized an impairment loss
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of $41.4 comprised of the $40.6 million impairment of real estate and $0.8 million of other impairments in the Consolidated Statement of Operations for the
three-month period ended June 30, 2008.

 
As part of the quarterly assessment of the recoverability of its long-lived assets, the Company recorded impairment charges of $28.5 million for the

three-month period ended September 30, 2008. Of that amount, $26.8 million related to Applebee’s properties and primarily resulted from a continuing
deterioration in credit markets in general and a decline in operating results of Applebee’s company-operated restaurants expected to be franchised in
particular geographic areas.  The remainder of the impairment related to an individual underperforming IHOP property for which estimates of future cash
flows indicated the carrying value would not be recovered.

 
Gain on Extinguishment of Debt
 

During the nine months ended September 30, 2009, we retired Series 2007-1 Class A-2-II-X Fixed Rate Term Senior Notes due December 2037 with
a face amount of $94.0 million and Series 2007-1 Class A-2-II-A Fixed Rate Term Senior Notes due December 2037 with a face amount of $35.1 million for
cash payments totaling $85.4 million. The Company recognized a gain on extinguishment of debt of $38.8 million after the write-off of the discount and
deferred financing costs related to the debt retired.

 
During the nine months ended September 30, 2008, we retired certain Series 2007-1 Class A-2-II-A Fixed Rate Term Senior Notes due

December 2037 with a face amount of $23.5 million for a cash payment of $20.0 million. The transaction resulted in a gain of $2.4 million after the write-off
of the discount and deferred financing costs related to the debt retired.

 
Gain on Disposition of Assets
 

The Company recognized a gain on disposition of assets of $7.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2009, primarily related to the
franchising of seven Applebee’s restaurants in the New Mexico market completed in 2009.

 
Other Income and Expense
 

Other expense was $1.0 million for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2009 compared to other income of $2.2 million for the same period
of the prior year. The primary reason for the decrease is lower interest income resulting from significantly lower interest rates on U.S Treasury-based
investments.

 
Provision for Income Taxes
 

The effective tax rate was 29.8% for the nine months ended September 30, 2009. The effective tax rate is lower than the federal statutory rate of 35%
primarily due to tax credits and favorable settlements with taxing authorities, partially offset by state income taxes. The tax credits are primarily FICA tip and
other compensation-related tax credits associated with Applebee’s company-owned restaurant operations.

 
Liquidity and Capital Resources
 

Certain of our subsidiaries incurred approximately $2.3 billion of indebtedness in connection with our acquisition of Applebee’s in November 2007.
We have reduced the securitized indebtedness by approximately $0.5 billion as of September 30, 2009; however, the remaining securitized indebtedness
continues to have a significant impact on the liquidity and capital resources of the Company. We expect to pay approximately $145 million to $155 million
of interest in cash for the year ended December 31, 2009, in addition to dividends of $19.3 million on Series A Preferred Stock that was also issued in
connection with the acquisition. This indebtedness limits our ability to obtain additional financing, due to explicit limitations in the indenture under which
the indebtedness was issued.

 
As described in Note 10 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year

ended December 31, 2008, the Fixed Rate Notes issued as part of the Applebee’s securitization transaction have a legal maturity of December 2037; however,
the indenture under which the Notes were issued includes provisions which may require the early repayment, in whole or in part, of the Notes which, if not
met, would require the Company to use all or part of the excess cash flow that would otherwise be available for general business purposes to fund a reserve
account for the Notes or to begin to pay down the Notes. The accelerated payment date for the Applebee’s Class A-2-II-A Fixed Rate Term Senior Notes,
Class A-2-II-X Fixed Rate Term Senior Notes and Class M-1 Fixed Rate Term Subordinated Notes is December 2012. As of September 30, 2009, the
conditions that would require an early repayment date for the Notes had not occurred.

 
Debt Covenant Compliance
 

As part of the financing for the Applebee’s acquisition, certain subsidiaries of the Company completed two separate securitized debt offerings. These
transactions consisted of an issuance of debt collateralized by Applebee’s restaurant assets (the “Applebee’s Notes”) and a separate issuance of debt
collateralized by IHOP restaurant assets (the “IHOP Notes”). Previously, IHOP
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completed a $200 million securitized debt offering in March 2007, which is subject to the same debt covenants as IHOP’s November 2007 securitization.
This securitized debt is subject to a series of covenants and restrictions which are customary for transactions of this type. As of September 30, 2009,
approximately $1.8 billion of securitized debt is subject to these covenants and restrictions.

 
The most significant covenants related to the securitized debt require the maintenance of a consolidated leverage ratio and certain debt service

coverage ratios. The consolidated leverage ratio is defined as (a) the sum of: (i) all securitized debt (assuming all variable funding facilities are fully drawn);
(ii) all other debt of the Company; and (iii) current monthly operating lease expense multiplied by 96; divided by (b) the sum of: (i) the Company’s EBITDA
(as defined) for the preceding 12 months; and (ii) annualized operating lease expense. Maximum ratios for this test are as follows:

 
 

Applebee’s Notes
 

IHOP Notes
 

Through November 2009 7.75x 7.5x
Thereafter 7.25x 7.0x

 
Failure to remain under these maximums could result in required early amortization of outstanding principal amounts of the Applebee’s Notes or

IHOP Notes. At September 30, 2009, the Company’s consolidated leverage ratio was 6.0x. If the EBITDA component of the calculation had been $103.5
million, or 25.3%, lower, the Company would have exceeded the maximum ratio allowed for the IHOP Notes. If the EBITDA component of the calculation
had been $74.7 million, or 18.3%, lower, the Company would have exceeded the maximum ratio of 7.0x that will be allowed for the IHOP Notes as of the end
of November 2009. The Company’s consolidated leverage ratio was 6.8x at December 31, 2008.

 
As noted above, the denominator of the consolidated leverage ratio includes EBITDA for the preceding 12 months. Our EBITDA has benefited from

gains on debt extinguishment that will ultimately drop out of the calculation once they fall out of the rolling 12-month calculation period. To the extent
gains on debt extinguishment do not continue to occur in amounts similar to those that have been recognized in the past 12 months, our consolidated
leverage ratio will be adversely impacted. The consolidated leverage ratio calculated as of September 30, 2009, excluding all gains on extinguishment of
debt from the rolling 12-month calculation period, would have been 6.6x.

 
The formulas for calculating the debt service coverage ratios (“DSCR”) for each securitization are fairly complex with numerous defined terms. In

concept, DSCR is the ratio of restaurant net cash flow (as defined) divided by total debt service payments, which include, among other things, interest
payments, insurance premiums and administrative expenses. The minimum DSCR for the preceding three months is 1.85x. The consequences of falling below
specified minimum three-month DSCRs vary depending upon the actual ratio achieved. Three-month DSCRs below 1.85x can trigger a Cash Trapping Event,
a Rapid Amortization Event, or a Default Event, as outlined in the table below. In a Cash Trapping Event, the indenture trustee for the affected securitization
is required to retain a certain percentage of cash flow (after all required payments have been made) in a restricted account. No principal amounts of debt are
retired in a Cash Trapping Event. In a Rapid Amortization Event all excess cash flow (after all required payments have been made) is retained and used to
retire principal amounts of debt. These events are triggered as follows:

 
 

Applebee’s Notes
 

IHOP Notes
 

Cash Trapping Event Less than 1.85x:
25% of cash flow

Less than 1.85x:
40% of cash flow

Cash Trapping Event Less than 1.75x:
50% of cash flow

Less than 1.65x:
80% of cash flow

Rapid Amortization Event Less than 1.5x Less than 1.5x
Default Event Less than 1.2x Less than 1.25x

 
There are also provisions for a one-time cure of either a Cash Trapping Event or a Rapid Amortization Event if the DSCR recovers to certain levels

for three consecutive payment dates. A Rapid Amortization Event can also be triggered in other defined circumstances unrelated to the DSCR, including
Applebee’s failure to maintain a minimum level of system-wide sales. At September 30, 2009, the Applebee’s three-month DSCR was 2.98x and the IHOP
three-month DSCR was 3.47x. If the restaurant cash flow components of the calculation had been $23.1 million, or 37.8%, and $11.2 million, or 46.7%, lower
for purposes of the Applebee’s and IHOP calculations, respectively, the Company would have fallen below the 1.85x minimum threshold. At December 31,
2008, the Applebee’s three-month DSCR was 2.0x and the IHOP three-month DSCR was 3.0x.

 
A second covenant test based on DSCR becomes effective under the Applebee’s Notes beginning with the fiscal quarter commencing January 2010

and ending with the fiscal quarter commencing October 2012. This test is based on the same DSCR calculation described above but covering the preceding
12-month period as opposed to the preceding three-month period. A 12-month DSCR below the time-period specific minimum set forth below can trigger a
Partial Amortization Event.  In a Partial Amortization Event, the indenture trustee for the Applebee’s securitization is required to retain an amount equal to
the lesser of (i) the sum of $5,583,000 plus the shortfall, if any, in the retained amount from a preceding period under a Partial Amortization Event and (ii) the
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outstanding principal amount of the Applebee’s Notes plus the shortfall, if any, from a preceding period under a Partial Amortization Event. All retained
amounts are used to retire principal amounts of debt in order of seniority. The minimum 12-month DSCR is 2.20x and increases by 5 basis points each
quarter, as follows:

 
Fiscal Quarter
Commencing in:

 

Minimum Twelve-
Month DCSR

January 2010 2.20x
April 2010 2.25x
July 2010 2.30x
October 2010 2.35x
January 2011 2.40x
April 2011 2.45x
July 2011 2.50x
October 2011 2.55x
January 2012 2.60x
April 2012 2.65x
July 2012 2.70x
October 2012 2.75x

 
The test of Applebee’s 12-month DSCR set forth above is not required until the payment date occurring in January 2010 and will end with the

payment date occurring in December 2012. The Applebee’s 12-month DSCR as of September 30, 2009 was 2.89x.
 

Franchising of Applebee’s Company-Operated Restaurants
 

Another impact of the Applebee’s acquisition on our liquidity is the planned monetization of certain Applebee’s assets. We are currently pursuing a
strategy which contemplates transitioning from our current 80% franchised Applebee’s system to an approximately 98% franchised Applebee’s system,
similar to IHOP’s 99% franchised system. In order to accomplish this strategy, we plan to franchise substantially all of the company-operated Applebee’s
restaurants while retaining one company market in the Kansas City area. This heavily franchised business model is expected to require less capital investment
and reduce the volatility of cash flow performance over time, while also providing cash proceeds from the franchising of the restaurants. If our strategy to
transition to a 98% franchised system is delayed or suspended, or sales proceeds from franchising restaurants are less than anticipated, we believe that the
company-operated Applebee’s restaurants will continue to generate sufficient cash from operations to meet our obligations, so that we will not be compelled
to franchise Applebee’s company-operated restaurants at prices lower than we deem appropriate. Under the terms of the securitized debt agreements, all of the
cash proceeds of asset dispositions must be used to retire long-term debt on a pro-rata basis.

 
There were two company-operated Applebee’s restaurants franchised during the three months ended September 30, 2009, bringing the total

franchised to seven for the nine months ended September 30, 2009. For the nine months ended September 30, 2009, proceeds from all asset sales, primarily
the seven Applebee’s company-operated restaurants franchised, were $16.1 million.

 
Credit Facilities
 

Applebee’s has a $100 million revolving credit facility, the Series 2007-1 Class A-1 Variable Funding Senior Notes. IHOP has a $25 million
revolving credit facility, the Series 2007-2 Variable Funding Notes. At September 30, 2009, both revolving credit facilities have been fully drawn and the
Company does not presently have additional sources of credit. However, we believe that our cash and cash equivalents, which totaled $105.1 million as of
September 30, 2009, and cash generated from operating activities provide adequate liquidity for the foreseeable future in the absence of additional credit
facilities.

 
The payments on the variable funding notes and certain of the term notes issued in connection with the Applebee’s acquisition are insured under a

financial guaranty insurance policy. If the insurance company were to become subject to insolvency or similar proceedings, an event of default would occur
under the indenture pursuant to which the notes were issued, and the holders of the variable funding notes would no longer be required to fund draws on the
facility. We have no reason to question the solvency of the insurance company that insures these payments, and its senior unsecured debt obligations are
highly rated at the current time.

 
Our ability to pay the interest on our indebtedness, to make scheduled payments of principal and to fund planned capital expenditures will depend

on future performance of our operations, which, to a certain extent, is subject to general economic, financial, competitive, legislative, regulatory and other
factors that are beyond our control. Based upon the current level of operations and our current expectations for future periods in light of the current economic
environment, we presently anticipate that our cash and cash equivalents, which totaled $105.1 million as of September 30, 2009, together with expected cash
flows from operations will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash requirements for working capital, retirement of securitized debt, capital expenditures and
other obligations for at least the next 12 months. Further, based on current projections, we believe that we will remain in compliance with the debt covenants
discussed above for at least the next 12 months. However, if we are not able to achieve forecasted revenue targets
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and operating improvements, this assessment would have to be reconsidered. Additionally, certain Applebee’s Notes have accelerated payment dates in
December 2012, and we will likely seek to refinance this debt if it has not been repaid prior to then. We may not be able to effect any future refinancing of our
debt on commercially reasonable terms or at all.

 
In the event that we are unable to refinance the Applebee’s securitization debt by December 2012, then we will have the ability to extend the

scheduled payment date for six months if we are in compliance with applicable covenant ratios at that time. The interest rate on the Applebee’s securitization
debt will increase by 0.50%, and any unpaid amount will accrue interest at such increased rate.

 
Similarly, if we are unable to refinance the Series 2007-3 IHOP securitization debt by December 2012, then we will have the ability to extend the

scheduled repayment date for six months. The interest rate on the Series 2007-3 IHOP securitization debt will increase by 0.50%, and any unpaid amount will
accrue interest at such increased rate. Further, if we are unable to refinance the Series 2007-1 IHOP securitization debt by March 2012, then we will have the
ability to extend the scheduled repayment date for up to two years with a 0.25% annual increase in the interest rate each year.

 
Prior to the expiration of such extension periods, we may seek to renegotiate the terms applicable to the repayment of principal under the relevant

securitization program, raise capital or otherwise explore alternative measures to repay the securitization debt.  In the event that we are unable to refinance
the Applebee’s or IHOP securitization debt upon the expiration of the relevant extension periods, a Rapid Amortization Event will occur under the applicable
securitization program and funds will be deposited in the principal payment account for that program and used to repay principal of the applicable
securitization debt.

 
Operating Activities
 

Cash provided by operating activities is primarily driven by revenues earned and collected from our franchisees, operating earnings from our
company-operated restaurants and profit from our rental operations and financing operations. Franchise revenues consist of royalties, IHOP advertising fees
and sales of proprietary products for IHOP, each of which fluctuates with increases or decreases in franchise retail sales. Franchise retail sales are impacted by
the development of IHOP and Applebee’s restaurants by our franchisees and by fluctuations in same-store sales. Operating earnings from company-operated
restaurants are impacted by many factors which include but are not limited to changes in traffic patterns, pricing activities and changes in operating expenses.
Rental operations profit is rental income less rental expenses. Rental income includes revenues from operating leases and interest income from direct
financing leases. Rental expenses are costs of prime operating leases and interest expense on prime capital leases on franchisee-operated restaurants.
Financing operations revenue consists of the portion of franchise fees not allocated to IHOP intellectual property, sales of equipment, as well as interest
income from the financing of franchise fees and equipment leases. Financing expenses are primarily the cost of restaurant equipment.

 
Cash provided by operating activities increased to $102.9 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2009 from $61.3 million in the same

period in 2008, primarily due to an increase in net income of $92.8 million, partially offset by a decrease of $66.4 million in noncash adjustments (primarily
depreciation, non-cash interest, impairment charges, gains on debt extinguishment and asset sales and deferred taxes). Additionally, lower working capital
required improved cash from operations by $15.2 million because working capital changes used cash of $18.6 million during the nine months ended
September 30, 2009 as compared to a $33.8 million use in 2008. The decrease in working capital used was due primarily to the timing of payments for
advertising, retention bonuses and income taxes. Another factor that impacts cash used or provided by working capital is the sale of gift cards. The revenue
from gift cards is recognized as the card is redeemed, but cash, in most cases, has been received at the time of purchase, or shortly thereafter. In any given
period, the timing of sales and redemptions of gift cards can either generate or use working capital.

 
Investing Activities
 

Net cash provided by investing activities of $20.9 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2009 was primarily attributable to $16.1
million in proceeds from sales of property and equipment primarily related to the sale of seven Applebee’s company-operated restaurants and $11.4 million
in principal receipts from notes and equipment contracts receivable, partially offset by $9.5 million in capital expenditures. The Company currently estimates
that capital expenditures for fiscal 2009 will be at the lower end of a range from $13 million to $16 million. The Company does not presently anticipate a
significant amount of proceeds from additional sales of assets during the remainder of fiscal 2009.

 
Financing Activities
 

Financing activities used net cash of $133.2 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2009. Cash used in financing activities primarily
consisted of $108.5 million in repayments of long-term debt, payment of accrued debt issuance costs of $20.3 million, capital lease obligation and financing
obligation repayments of $10.7 million and $14.3 million in dividend payments on Series A Preferred Stock. Of the long-term debt repayments,
approximately $85.4 million was related to the early retirement of securitzation debt with excess cash, $11.3 million was related to scheduled repayments and
$11.8 million related to redemptions with proceeds of asset dispositions and other items as required under the securitization agreements. Cash provided by
financing activities resulted from a decrease of $10.7 million in restricted cash related to the securitizations and a borrowing of $10.0 million from a
revolving credit facility.
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Dividends
 

We have accrued $4.75 million as dividends for the Series A Perpetual Preferred Stock as of the end of our third fiscal quarter, which is included in
“other accrued expenses” in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The dividends were paid on September 30, 2009, which is the third day of our fiscal fourth
quarter. On November 29, 2009, the dividend rate in the Series A Perpetual Preferred Stock will increase from the current 10% per annum to 12% per annum,
and continue at that rate until November 28, 2017.

 
The accreted value of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock increased by $1.7 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2009.
 
In December 2008, the Board of Directors suspended the payment of the quarterly cash dividend to common stockholders for the foreseeable future

as part of actions the Company is taking to maximize its financial flexibility. Future dividend declarations on the common shares may be made at the
discretion of the Board of Directors after consideration of the Company’s earnings, financial condition, cash requirements, future prospects and other factors.

 
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of net revenues and expenses in the reporting period. We
base our estimates and assumptions on current facts, historical experience and various other factors that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances,
the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities and the accrual of costs and expenses that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Accounting assumptions and estimates are inherently uncertain and actual results may differ materially from our
estimates.

 
We believe the following critical accounting policies require us to make significant judgments and estimates in the preparation of our consolidated

financial statements:
 

Purchase Price Allocation
 

The purchase price for acquisitions is allocated to the identifiable tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their
respective fair values in accordance with U.S. GAAP requirements regarding accounting for business combinations. The determination of estimated fair
values of identifiable intangible assets and certain tangible assets requires significant estimates and assumptions, including but not limited to, determining
the estimated future cash flows, estimated useful lives of assets and appropriate discount rates. We believe the estimated fair values assigned to the
Applebee’s assets acquired and liabilities assumed are based on reasonable assumptions.

 
Long-Lived Assets
 

We assess long-lived and intangible assets with finite lives for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value
of the assets may not be recoverable. We test impairment using historical cash flows and other relevant facts and circumstances as the primary basis for our
estimates of future cash flows. We consider factors such as the number of years the restaurant has been operated by us, sales trends, cash flow trends,
remaining lease life and other factors which apply on a case-by-case basis. The analysis is performed at the individual restaurant level for indicators of
permanent impairment. Recoverability of the restaurant’s assets is measured by comparing the assets’ carrying value to the undiscounted cash flows expected
to be generated over the assets’ remaining useful life or remaining lease term, whichever is less. If the total expected undiscounted future cash flows are less
than the carrying amount of the assets, the carrying amount is written down to the estimated fair value, and a loss resulting from impairment is recognized by
charging to earnings. This process requires the use of estimates and assumptions, which are subject to a high degree of judgment. If these assumptions change
in the future, we may be required to record impairment charges for these assets.

 
Goodwill and Intangibles
 

Goodwill is recorded when the aggregate purchase price of an acquisition exceeds the estimated fair value of the net identified tangible and
intangible assets acquired. Intangible assets resulting from the acquisition are accounted for using the purchase method of accounting and are estimated by
management based on the fair value of the assets received. Identifiable intangible assets are comprised primarily of trademarks, trade names and franchise
agreements. Identifiable assets are being amortized over the period of estimated benefit using the straight-line method and estimated useful lives. Goodwill
and indefinite life intangible assets are not subject to amortization.

 
In accordance with U.S. GAAP governing the accounting for goodwill and other intangible assets, goodwill has been allocated to three reporting

units, the IHOP franchised restaurants unit (“IHOP unit”), Applebee’s company-operated restaurants unit (“Applebee’s company unit”) and Applebee’s
franchised restaurants unit (“Applebee’s franchise unit”). The significant majority of the Company’s goodwill resulted from the November 29, 2007
acquisition of Applebee’s and has been allocated between the two Applebee’s units. The goodwill allocated to the Applebee’s company unit was assessed as
fully impaired during the year ended December 31, 2008. The Company tests goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets for impairment on an annual
basis in the fourth quarter. The impairment test of goodwill of the Applebee’s unit will be performed as of October 31, 2009. The impairment test
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of the goodwill of the IHOP unit will be performed as of December 31, 2009, the date as of which the analysis has been performed in prior years.
 
In addition to the annual test of impairment, goodwill must be evaluated more frequently if the Company believes indicators of impairment exist.

Such indicators include, but are not limited to, events or circumstances such as a significant adverse change in the business climate, unanticipated
competition, a loss of key personnel, adverse legal or regulatory developments, or a significant decline in the market price of the Company’s common stock.
The Company has evaluated the events and circumstances that took place during the nine months ended September 30, 2009 and noted, among other things,
that the same-store sales performance of IHOP and Applebee’s restaurants is within the range of expectations for 2009 and that the Company’s stock price has
increased significantly since December 31, 2008. During the nine months ended September 30, 2009, the Company has taken impairment charges on four
parcels of real estate, two Applebee’s restaurants and one IHOP restaurant (see “Comparison of the Nine Months ended September 30, 2009 and 2008 –
Impairments and Closure Charges”).
 

These impairments were evaluated individually and collectively and were determined to have been necessitated by factors unique to the individual
properties and were not considered indicative of impairment of goodwill or other intangible assets. The Company noted no other indicators of impairment.
Based on the evaluation, the Company has concluded that an interim test of goodwill for impairment is not required as of September 30, 2009.

 
In the process of the Company’s annual impairment review, the Company primarily uses the income approach method of valuation that includes the

discounted cash flow method as well as other generally accepted valuation methodologies to determine the fair value of our intangible assets. Significant
assumptions used to determine fair value under the discounted cash flows model include future trends in sales, operating expenses, overhead expenses,
depreciation, capital expenditures, and changes in working capital along with an appropriate discount rate. Additional assumptions are made as to proceeds
to be received from future franchising of company-operated restaurants. Step one of the impairment test compares the fair value of each of our reporting units
to its carrying value. If the fair value is in excess of the carrying value, no impairment exists. If the step one test does indicate an impairment, step two must
take place. Under step two, the fair value of the assets and liabilities of the reporting unit are estimated as if the reporting unit were acquired in a business
combination. The excess of the fair value of the reporting unit over the carrying amounts assigned to its assets and liabilities is the implied fair value of the
goodwill, to which the carrying value of the goodwill must be adjusted. The fair value of all reporting units is then compared to the current market value of
the Company’s common stock to determine if the fair values estimated in the impairment testing process are reasonable in light of the current market value.

 
Leases
 

Our restaurants are located on (i) sites owned by us, (ii) sites leased by us from third parties and (iii) sites owned or leased by franchisees. At the
inception of the lease, each property is evaluated to determine whether the lease will be accounted for as an operating or capital lease in accordance with U.S.
GAAP governing the accounting for leases.

 
The lease term used for straight-line rent expense is calculated from the date we obtain possession of the leased premises through the lease

termination date. Prior to January 2, 2006, we capitalized rent expense from possession date through construction completion and reported the related asset in
property and equipment. Capitalized rent was amortized through depreciation and amortization expense over the estimated useful life of the related assets
limited to the lease term. Straight-line rent recorded during the preopening period (construction completion through restaurant open date) was recorded as
expense. Commencing January 2, 2006, we expense rent from possession date through restaurant open date, in accordance with U.S. GAAP addressing the
accounting for rental costs incurred during a construction period. Once a restaurant opens for business, we record straight-line rent over the lease term plus
contingent rent to the extent it exceeded the minimum rent obligation per the lease agreement. We use a consistent lease term when calculating depreciation
of leasehold improvements, when determining straight-line rent expense and when determining classification of our leases as either operating or capital.

 
There is potential for variability in the rent holiday period, which begins on the possession date and ends on the restaurant open date, during which

no cash rent payments are typically due under the terms of the lease. Factors that may affect the length of the rent holiday period generally involve
construction-related delays. Extension of the rent holiday period due to delays in restaurant opening will result in greater preopening rent expense
recognized during the rent holiday period and lesser occupancy expense during the rest of the lease term (post-opening).

 
For leases that contain rent escalations, we record the total rent payable during the lease term, as determined above, on the straight-line basis over

the term of the lease (including the rent holiday period beginning upon our possession of the premises), and record the difference between the minimum rents
paid and the straight-line rent as a lease obligation. Certain leases contain provisions that require additional rental payments based upon restaurant sales
volume (“contingent rent”). Contingent rent is accrued each period as the liabilities are incurred, in addition to the straight-line rent expense noted above.

 
Certain of our lease agreements contain tenant improvement allowances. For purposes of recognizing incentives, we amortize the incentives over the

shorter of the estimated useful life or lease term. For tenant improvement allowances, we also record a deferred rent liability or an obligation in our non-
current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets.
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Management makes judgments regarding the probable term for each restaurant property lease, which can impact the classification and accounting

for a lease as capital or operating, the rent holiday and/or escalations in payment that are taken into consideration when calculating straight-line rent and the
term over which leasehold improvements for each restaurant are amortized. These judgments may produce materially different amounts of depreciation,
amortization and rent expense than would be reported if different assumed lease terms were used.

 
Insurance Reserves
 

We use estimates in the determination of the appropriate liabilities for general liability, workers’ compensation and health insurance. The estimated
liability is established based upon historical claims data and third-party actuarial estimates of settlement costs for incurred claims. Unanticipated changes in
these factors may require us to revise our estimates. We periodically reassess our assumptions and judgments and make adjustments when significant facts
and circumstances dictate. A change in any of the above estimates could impact our consolidated statements of earnings, and the related asset or liability
recorded in our consolidated balance sheets would be adjusted accordingly. Historically, actual results have not been materially different than the estimates
that are described above.

 
Stock-Based Compensation
 

We account for stock-based compensation in accordance with U.S. GAAP governing share-based payments. Accordingly, we measure stock-based
compensation expense at the grant date, based on the fair value of the award, and recognize the expense over the employee’s requisite service period using
the straight-line method. The fair value of each employee stock option and restricted stock award is estimated on the date of grant using an option pricing
model that meets certain requirements. We currently use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the fair value of our share-based compensation.
The measurement of stock-based compensation expense is based on several criteria including, but not limited to, the valuation model used and associated
input factors, such as expected term of the award, stock price volatility, risk free interest rate and forfeiture rate. These inputs are subjective and are
determined using management’s judgment. If differences arise between the assumptions used in determining stock-based compensation expense and the
actual factors which become known over time, we may change the input factors used in determining future stock-based compensation expense. Any such
changes could materially impact our operations in the period in which the changes are made and in subsequent periods.

 
Derivative Financial Instruments
 

In the normal course of business we utilize derivative instruments to manage our exposure to interest rate risks. We account for our derivative
instruments in accordance with U.S GAAP which requires that all derivative instruments be recorded on the balance sheet at fair value and establishes criteria
for designation and effectiveness of the hedging relationships, which in turn determines whether changes in the fair value of derivatives are recorded through
earnings or through accumulated other comprehensive income.

 
We use derivative financial instruments primarily for purposes of hedging exposures to fluctuations in interest rates. All derivatives are recognized

on the balance sheet at fair value. For derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as a cash flow hedge (i.e., hedging the exposure to variability in
expected future cash flows that is attributable to a particular risk), the effective portion of the gain or loss on the derivative instrument is reported as a
component of other comprehensive income or loss and reclassified into earnings in the same line item associated with the forecasted transaction in the same
period or periods during which the hedged transaction affects earnings (for example, in “interest expense” when the hedged transactions are interest cash
flows associated with debt). The remaining gain or loss on the derivative instrument in excess of the cumulative change in the present value of future cash
flows of the hedged item, if any, is recognized in other income/expense in current earnings during the period of change.

 
At inception of the hedge, we choose the Hypothetical Derivative Method of effectiveness calculation, which we must use for the life of the contract

and we will measure effectiveness quarterly. When hedge treatment is achieved, the changes in fair values related to the effective portion of the derivatives
are recorded in other comprehensive income or loss or in income/expense, depending on the designation of the derivative as a cash flow hedge. We obtain
the values on a quarterly basis from the counterparty of the derivative contracts. The undesignated portion of the derivative contract is calculated and
recorded in Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations at the end of each quarter until settled.

 
Fair Value Measurements
 

The Company determines the fair market values of its financial assets and liabilities, as well as non-financial assets and liabilities that are recognized
or disclosed at fair value on a recurring basis, based on the hierarchy established in U.S. GAAP for fair value measurements. We measure our financial assets
and liabilities using inputs from the following three levels of the fair value hierarchy:

 
·                   Level 1 inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that we have the ability to access at the

measurement date.
 
·                   Level 2 inputs include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities

in markets that are not active, inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset
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or liability (i.e., interest rates, yield curves, etc.), and inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by
correlation or other means (market corroborated inputs).

 
·                   Level 3 includes unobservable inputs that reflect our assumptions about how market participants would price the asset or liability. We develop

these inputs based on the best information available, including our own data.
 
For more information on the financial instruments the Company measures at fair value, see Note 13, Financial Instruments in “Notes to Consolidated

Financial Statements.”
 

Income Taxes
 

We provide for income taxes based on our estimate of federal and state income tax liabilities. Our annual tax rate is based on our income, statutory
tax rates and tax planning opportunities available to us in the various jurisdictions in which we operate. Tax laws are complex and subject to different
interpretations by the taxpayers and respective governmental authorities. Significant judgment is required in determining our tax expense and in evaluating
our tax positions. We review our tax positions quarterly and adjust the balances as new information becomes available.

 
We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities using the enacted tax rates for the effect of temporary differences between the financial reporting

basis and the tax basis of recorded assets and liabilities. Deferred tax accounting requires that deferred tax assets be reduced by a valuation allowance if it is
more likely than not that some portions or all of the net deferred tax assets will not be realized. This test requires projection of our taxable income into future
years to determine if there will be taxable income sufficient to realize the tax assets. The preparation of the projections requires considerable judgment and is
subject to change to reflect future events and changes in the tax laws. When we establish or reduce the valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets,
our income tax expense will increase or decrease, respectively, in the period such determination is made.

 
Tax contingency reserves result from our estimates of potential liabilities resulting from differences between actual and audited results. We usually

file our income tax returns several months after our fiscal year end. All tax returns are subject to audit by federal and state governments, usually years after the
returns are filed, and could be subject to differing interpretation of the tax laws. Changes in the tax contingency reserves result from resolution of audits of
prior year filings, the expiration of the statute of limitations, changes in tax laws and current year estimates for asserted and unasserted items. Inherent
uncertainties exist in estimates of tax contingencies due to changes in tax law, both legislated and concluded through the various jurisdictions’ tax court
systems. Significant changes in our estimates could materially affect our reported results.

 
Under U.S. GAAP governing the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes, tax positions that previously failed to meet the more-likely-than-not

threshold should be recognized in the first subsequent financial reporting period in which that threshold is met. Previously recognized tax positions that no
longer meet the more-likely-than-not threshold should be derecognized in the first subsequent financial reporting period in which that threshold is no longer
met. We are subject to taxation in many jurisdictions, and the calculation of our tax liabilities involves dealing with uncertainties in the application of
complex tax laws and regulations in various tax jurisdictions. The application is subject to legal and factual interpretation, judgment and uncertainty. Tax
laws and regulations themselves are subject to change as a result of changes in fiscal policy, changes in legislation, the evolution of regulations and court
rulings. Therefore, the actual liability for taxes may be materially different from our estimates, which could result in the need to record additional tax
liabilities or to reverse previously recorded tax liabilities.

 
Recently Adopted Accounting Standards
 

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) amended U.S. GAAP with respect to fair value measurements. These
amendments, among other things, defined “fair value”, established a framework for measuring fair value and expanded disclosures about fair value
measurements. In February 2008, the FASB delayed for one year the applicability of the amended fair-value measurement requirements to certain
nonfinancial assets and liabilities. The Company adopted the requirements that had been deferred on January 1, 2009. The adoption did not have a material
impact on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

 
In December 2007, the FASB amended U.S. GAAP with respect to business combinations.  These amendments, among other things, established

principles and requirements for how an acquirer recognizes and measures in its financial statements the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed,
any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree and the goodwill acquired. These amendments also established disclosure requirements to enable the evaluation
of the nature and financial effects of the business combination. The amendments are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. The
Company adopted the amended requirements for business combinations on January 1, 2009 and will apply the requirements prospectively.

 
In March 2008, the FASB amended U.S. GAAP with respect to derivative instruments and hedging activities. These amendments, among other

things, require companies to provide enhanced disclosures about (a) how and why they use derivative instruments, (b) how derivative instruments and related
hedged items are accounted for, and (c) how derivative instruments and related hedged items affect a company’s financial position, financial performance and
cash flows. The Company adopted the new disclosure requirements on January 1, 2009. As the amendments did not change current accounting practice, there
was no impact of the adoption to the Company’s results of operations and financial condition.
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In April 2008, the FASB amended U.S. GAAP with respect to the factors that should be considered in developing renewal or extension assumptions

used to determine the useful life of a recognized intangible asset. The intent of the amendments is to improve the consistency between the useful life of a
recognized intangible asset under previously existing U.S. GAAP related to goodwill and other intangible assets and the period of expected cash flows used
to measure the fair value of the asset under U.S. GAAP with respect to business combinations. The Company adopted the amended requirements on January 1,
2009, and will apply the provisions prospectively to any intangible assets acquired after the effective date.

 
In June 2008, the FASB amended U.S. GAAP with respect to determining if an instrument granted in a share-based payment transaction is a

participating security. These amendments, among other things, require unvested share-based payment awards that contain rights to receive non-forfeitable
dividends or dividend equivalents to be included in the two-class method of computing earnings per share. The Company retroactively adopted these
amendments on January 1, 2009. The impact of the adoption on earnings per share as previously reported for the three- and nine-month periods ended
September 30, 2008 was not material.

 
In April 2009, the FASB amended U.S. GAAP to address concerns regarding (a) determining whether a market is not active and a transaction is not

orderly, (b) recognition and presentation of other-than-temporary impairments and (c) interim disclosures of fair values of financial instruments, respectively.
The Company adopted these amendments effective April 1, 2009. There was no impact of the adoption on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

 
In May 2009, the FASB amended U.S. GAAP with respect to subsequent events. These amendments, among other things, established general

standards of accounting for and disclosure of events that occur after the balance sheet date but before financial statements are issued or are available to be
issued. The Company adopted these amendments effective April 1, 2009. There was no impact of the adoption on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements.

 
In June 2009 the FASB established the FASB Accounting Standards Codification™ (the “Codification”) as the source of authoritative accounting

principles recognized by the FASB to be applied by nongovernmental entities in the preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP. 
Rules and interpretive releases of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) under authority of federal securities laws are also sources of
authoritative U.S. GAAP for SEC registrants.  All guidance contained in the Codification carries an equal level of authority.  The Codification became
effective for the Company in the third fiscal quarter of 2009.  Adoption of the Codification did not have a material effect on the Company’s financial
statements.

 
New Accounting Pronouncements
 

In June 2009, the FASB amended U.S. GAAP with respect to the accounting for transfers of financial assets. These amendments, among other things,
clarified that the objective of U.S. GAAP is to determine whether a transferor and all of the entities included in the transferor’s financial statements being
presented have surrendered control over transferred financial assets; limited the circumstances in which a financial asset, or portion of a financial asset,
should be derecognized when the transferor has not transferred the entire original financial asset to an entity that is not consolidated with the transferor in the
financial statements being presented and/or when the transferor has continuing involvement with the transferred financial asset; and removed the concept of a
qualifying special-purpose entity. The Company will be required to adopt these amendments effective January 1, 2010, and is currently evaluating the
potential impact, if any, on its consolidated financial statements.

 
In June 2009, the FASB amended U.S. GAAP with respect to the consolidation of variable interest entities (“VIEs”). These amendments, among other

things, (i) change existing guidance for determining whether an entity is a VIE; (ii) require ongoing reassessments of whether an entity is the primary
beneficiary of a VIE; and (iii) require enhanced disclosures about an entity’s involvement in a VIE. The Company will be required to adopt these
amendments effective January 1, 2010, and is currently evaluating the potential impact, if any, on its consolidated financial statements.

 
In August 2009, the FASB amended U.S. GAAP with respect to measuring liabilities at fair value. These amendments provide clarification that in

circumstances in which a quoted price in an active market for the identical liability is not available, a reporting entity is required to measure fair value of
such liability using one or more of the techniques prescribed by the update. We will be required to adopt these amendments in the fourth quarter of fiscal year
2009 and are currently evaluating the impact of adoption on our consolidated financial statements.
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Item 3.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk.
 

There were no material changes from the information contained in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K as of December 31, 2008.
 

Item 4.  Controls and Procedures.
 
Disclosure Controls and Procedures.
 

The Company’s management, with the participation of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the
effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on such evaluation, the Company’s Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of the end of such period, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective at the
reasonable assurance level.

 
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.
 

There have been no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the fiscal quarter to which this report relates that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect,
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
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Part II. OTHER INFORMATION
 
Item 1.  Legal Proceedings.
 

We are subject from time to time to lawsuits, claims and governmental inspections or audits arising in the ordinary course of business. Some of these
lawsuits purport to be class actions and/or seek substantial damages. In the opinion of management, these matters are adequately covered by insurance or, if
not so covered, are without merit or are of such a nature or involve amounts that would not have a material adverse impact on our business or consolidated
financial position.

 
Gerald Fast v. Applebee’s
 
The Company is currently defending a collective action filed under the Fair Labor Standards Act styled Gerald Fast v. Applebee’s

International, Inc., in which named plaintiffs claim that tipped workers in company restaurants perform excessive amounts of non-tipped work for which they
should be compensated at the minimum wage.  The court has conditionally certified a nationwide class of servers and bartenders who have worked in
company-operated Applebee’s restaurants since June 19, 2004.  Unlike a class action, a collective action requires potential class members to “opt in” rather
than “opt out.”  On February 12, 2008, 5,540 opt-in forms were filed with the court.

 
In cases of this type, conditional certification of the plaintiff class is granted under a lenient standard.  On January 15, 2009, the Company filed a

motion seeking to have the class de-certified and the plaintiffs filed a motion for summary judgment, both of which were denied by the court.  The parties
stipulated to a bench trial which was set to begin on September 8, 2009 in Jefferson City, Missouri.  Just prior to trial, however, the court vacated the trial
setting in order to submit key legal issues to the 8th Circuit for review on interlocutory appeal.  Briefing on the issues for interlocutory appeal was completed
by the parties on October 2, 2009.

 
The Company believes it has strong defenses to the substantive claims asserted and intends to vigorously defend this case.  An estimate of the

possible loss, if any, or the range of the loss cannot be made and, therefore, the Company has not accrued a loss contingency related to this matter.
 

Item 1A.  Risk Factors.
 

There were no material changes from the information contained in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K as of December 31, 2008.
 

Item 2.  Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.
 

(a) - (c) Not applicable.
 

Item 3.  Defaults Upon Senior Securities.
 

None.
 

Item 4.  Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.
 

None.
 

Item 5.  Other Information.
 

None.
 

Item 6.  Exhibits.
 

3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of DineEquity, Inc. (Exhibit 3.1 to DineEquity, Inc.’s Form 8-K filed June 2, 2008 is incorporated herein by
reference).

3.2 Amended Bylaws of DineEquity, Inc. (Exhibit 3.2 to DineEquity, Inc.’s Form 8-K filed June 2, 2008 is incorporated herein by reference).
31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of

2002.
31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of

2002.
32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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SIGNATURES
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
 

DineEquity, Inc.
(Registrant)

   
   

October 28, 2009 BY: /s/ JULIA A. STEWART
(Date) Julia A. Stewart

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

   
   

October 28, 2009 /s/ JOHN F. TIERNEY
(Date) John F. Tierney

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

   
   

October 28, 2009 /s/ GREGGORY KALVIN
(Date) Greggory Kalvin

Vice President, Corporate Controller
(Principal Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 31.1

 
Certification Pursuant to

Rule 13a-14(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, As Amended

 
I, Julia A. Stewart, certify that:
 
1.                                      I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of DineEquity, Inc.;
 
2.                                      Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 
3.                                      Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4.                                      The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 
(a)                                 Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,

to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
(b)                                Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
(c)                                 Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
(d)                                Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most

recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5.                                      The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

(a)                                 All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
(b)                                Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal

control over financial reporting.
 
Date: October 28, 2009

/s/ JULIA A. STEWART
  

Julia A. Stewart
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
 



Exhibit 31.2

 
Certification Pursuant to

Rule 13a-14(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, As Amended

 
I, John F. Tierney, certify that:
 
1.                                      I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of DineEquity, Inc.;
 
2.                                      Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 
3.                                      Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4.                                      The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 
(a)                                 Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,

to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
(b)                                Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
(c)                                 Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
(d)                                Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most

recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5.                                      The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

(a)                                 All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
(b)                                Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal

control over financial reporting.
 

Date: October 28, 2009
 

/s/ JOHN F. TIERNEY
  

John F. Tierney
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
 



Exhibit 32.1
 

Certification Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
As Adopted Pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
 

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of DineEquity, Inc. (the “Company”) for the quarter ended September 30, 2009, as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 28, 2009, (the “Report”), Julia A. Stewart, as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to the best of her knowledge,
that,:

 
(1)       The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 
(2)       The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the

Company.
 
Date: October 28, 2009 /s/ JULIA A. STEWART
  

Julia A. Stewart
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

 
This certification accompanies the Quarterly Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to the extent

required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by the Company for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended.
 



Exhibit 32.2
 

Certification Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
As Adopted Pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
 

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of DineEquity, Inc. (the “Company”) for the quarter ended September 30, 2009, as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 28, 2009, (the “Report”), John F. Tierney, as Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby certifies,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to the best of his knowledge, that,:

 
(1)       The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 
(2)       The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the

Company.
 
Date: October 28, 2009 /s/ JOHN F. TIERNEY
  

JOHN F. TIERNEY
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

 
This certification accompanies the Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to the extent required by

the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by the Company for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
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